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Canada In the matter of an Application for
Province of Ontarlo a Search Warrant pursuant to section
East Region 487, an Assistance Order pursuant to

sactlon 487.02, a Production Order
pursuant to section 487,012, and a
Sealing Order pursuani to sectlon
487.3 of the Criminal Code.

INFORMATION ON OATH.

I, Anick Marie Mazerolle, a peace officer and a member of the Royal Canadlan
Mounted Police {RCMP) in the Province of Ontarlo, MAKE AN OATH AND SAY AS
EOLLOWS:

INTRODUCTION OF AFFIANT

1

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

| am a peace officer employed by the RCMP since 2008 and currently assighed
to the National Division, Sensitive and International investigations Sectlon in
Ottawa, Ontarlo. | have knowledge of the information in this Information fo Obtaln
{ITO) and | belleve all of the Informatlon In this ITO to be true.

From 2041 to 2013, | galned experience on international corruption and the
Corruption of Foreign Publlc Officlals Act {CFPQOA) working on Project
"ASCENDANT", an investigation into an allegation of corrupt payments made by
executives of the Canadian corporation SNC-Lavalin, which was an offence
under the CFPOA. During this invastigation, | analyzed the intercepted
communications, prepared interview plans, conducted interviews, drafted parts of
the court brief, reviewed elactronic documents and | was the exhibit custodian,

in January 2014, | was asslgned to this investigation, called Project "ALOES”. |
am responsible for obtaining judiclal authorizations for this project. The
nvestigation began after a Canadian cllzen, formerly employed by
Magindustries, alleged the company made a payment that was contrary to the
GFPOA. | have written two 1TOs and two search warrants have been Issued by
tha Justice of the Peace in the Provinga of Ontario. '

In November 2044, | completed the course {itied *Drafting Information fo Obtaln”
taken at the Canadian Police Colfege, in Ottawa, Ontaric. The purpose of the
course was to develop my knowledge and skills in order to draft Information to
abtain (ITC) and judicial authorizations.

Throughout this 1TO, where | state my bellef, this belief is based on my
experience as sef out above and on other information as stated in this 1TO.

To facliitate the reading of this 1TO, | will write my comments In bold Inside
brackets [commants]. | .

4
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SEARCH WARRANT

SEARCH WARRANT AT MAGINDUSTRIES LOCATED AT 33 YONGE STREET,
SUITE 820, TORONTO, ONTARIO

This search warrant Is belng sought in relation to the following offences:

7) | have reasonable grounds to believe that offences contrary to an Act of
Parllament have bean committed:

{a) Between January 1%, 2013 and December 31%, 2013, by Longbo Chen, Jin
Zhongplng, Jun Tian and Fullang Wang, to wit:

§) Bribing a Forelgn Public Official contrary to section 3(1) of the Corruption
of Foreign Public Officials Act,

I} Fraud on Magindustdes’ investors contrary fo section 380 of the Criminal
Code;

i) Canspiracy to commit an indictable offence contrary to section 465 of the
Criminal Code,

(b) Between January 1%, 2012 and December 31%, 2013, unknown employees of
Eucalyptus Fibre Congo andfor Magindustries, to wit:

i} Bribing a Foreign Public Official contrary to section 3{1) of the Corruption
of Foreign Publfc Officlals Act;

li)y Fraud on Maglindustiies' investors contrary to sectlon 380 of the Criminal
Cods;

8) | also have reasonable grounds to belleve that offences pursuant fo section 22.2
of the Criminal Code have been committed between January 1%, 2012 and
December 31%, 2013, by Mag!ndusiries:

{a) Bribing a Forelgn Public Officlal contrary to section 3(1) of the Corruption of
Forelgn Public Officlals Act,

{b) Fraud on Maglndustrdes’ investors contrary to section 380 of the Criminal
Caode.

The “Things to search for"

9}  Should this search warrant be granted, | propose that peace offlcars be
authorized to enfer the premises at 33 Yonge Street, Suite 820, Toronto, Ontarlo,
to search for and to selze the followling documents andfor data ("Things to
search for");

(a) Documents Include all paper formats, electronic data that can be contalned
within devices (such as but not limited to moblle devices, external storage
devices, computers and hard drives) and Include agreements, ﬂnanclab/g,
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statements, notes, lattars, spreadshests, flow chars, correspondence, e-
malls and faxes;

) Any documents related to the title or job function of Magindustries', and/or
its subsidiaries’, employees for the years 2008 up to and including 2014;

1} Any documents for the years 2012 up to and including 2014 related to
Magindustries® expropriation projects in the Republic of Cengo;

iy Any documents for the years 2012 up to and Including 2014 related to the

) Any documents for the years 2013 Gp to and including 2014 related to the
planning and/or any subsequent visit to China organized by Magindustries by
T — A R —————

persons invited;

v) Any documents related to the payment andfor agreement to pay the

RS EEERENRAER on May 2™, 2013;
vi) Any documents related to [IEEEEEEEEEREE. ox Magindustries’ employes;

vil} Any documents for the year 2013 related to Magindustdes' Internal
control policy, reports, guidelines andfor procedures;

vilf) Any documents related to a 30,000,000 CFA payment made by
Eucalyptus Fibre Congo on November 30%, 2012, regarding a tax inspection;

ix) Any documents related to a 7,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Flbre Conge on July 18™, 2012, regarding a tax Inspection;

X} Any documents refated to a 5,000,000 CFA paymant madae by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on December 268", 2012, regarding social secure Inspaction;

x) Any doc&ments related fo a 3,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on July 24" 2012, regarding a commerce administration
inspaction;

xil} Any documents related to a 6,000,000 CFA paymant made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo in 2013 regarding taxable staff benefits,

PRODUCTION ORDER

PRODUCTION ORDER FOR TRENT HENRY, CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER OF ERNST & YOUNG

This production order Is baing sought in relation {o the following offences:

10)

I also have reasonable grounds to belleve that between January 1*, 2012 and
December 31%, 2013, unknown employees of Eucalyptus Flbre Congo andfor
Magindustries have committed the following offences:

(a} Bribing a Forelgn Public Officlal contrary to section 3(1) of the Corruplion of

Forefgn FPublic Officlals Acl;
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11)

{b) Fraud on Maglndustries’ investors contrary to section 380 of the Crminal
Code;

| also have reasonable grounds, pursuant to section 22.2 of the Criminal Code, to
belleve that between January 1*, 2012, and Decerber 31%, 2013, Maglndustries
have committed the fallowling offences:

(a) Bribing & Forelgn Public Officlal contrary to section 3(1) of the Corrupfion of
Forelgn Public Officlals act;

(b} Fraud on Maglndustries’ Investors contrary to section 380 of the Criminal
Code.

The documents and/or the data to be preduced

12)

13}

| propose that Trent Henry, Chalrman and Chief Executive Officer of Ernst &
Young Canada or his designate shall producs documents andior data, or copies
of them cerlified by affidavit to be true coples, located at 222 Bay Streat, P.O.
Box 251, Toronto, Ontario or any other ocation, off sife faclity, receptacls or
place where Emst & Young malintains and stores the things referred to as
documaents and/or data to be produced to Constable Anlck Marle Mazerolie, or
har deslgnate, a peace officer of the RCMP, Sensitive and Internatiohal
investigations Sectlon at 155 McArthur Avaenue, Room 523, Oftawa, Onfario as

~ soon as reasonably possible bul in any event no later than 30 days from the date

this order is served. Should this production order be granted, there are
reasonable grounds fo believe that the followlng documents andfor data will
afford evidence in respect lo the commission of named offences.

Documents include all paper formats, electronie data that can be contained within
devices {such as but not limited to mobife devices, exiernal storage devices,
computers and hard drives) and inciude agreemants, financlai statements, noles,
feiters, spreadsheets, flow chars, correspondencs, e-malls and faxes;

{a) The documents and/or data, or copies of them cerlified by affidavit to be true
copies to be produced are;

I} The 2012 Magindustries audit file, including the paper and electronic file,
auditor's notes and e-mails;

1} Any documents related to a 30,000,000 CFA payment made by
Eucalyptus Fibre Congo on November 30", 2012, regarding & tax inspection;

iif) Any documents related to a 7,000,000 CFA payment mads by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on July 18", 2012, regarding a tax inspection;

iv) Any documents related to a 5,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on December 26%, 2012, regarding social secure Inspection;

v} Any documents related to 2 3,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on July 24", 2012, regarding a commerce administralion
inspection;

vi) Any documents related to a 6,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo in 2013 regarding faxabie staff benefit. JQ
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OVERVIEW

14)

15)

Part1

18)

17)

18)

The following section Is my understanding of the state of the Investigation, ls
sole purposs is to help the reader understand the grounds contalned in this ITO.
Since, there are lwo separate offences cumently being investigated, [ have
divided the overvisw in two sections tifled “Part 1" and “Part 2", Part 1 desctibes
events surrounding a payment allagadiy made to the (RTINS o
the Rapublic of Congo. Part 2 describes flve "black money" payments allegedly
made by Eucalyptus Fibre Congo In relation to taxes that the company owed the
Congolese government. The grounds that support my belief will follow the
overviow.

This ITO contains several mantions of amounts in CFA Frane, the local currency
used in the ROC. To provide the reader with a better understanding of the valus,
| accessed the Bank of Canada wabsite at
www.bankofcanada.ca/rates/exchange In order to get the conversion from "XAF
{CFA Frang)” to "CAD (Canadian Dollary’. | learned that on May 2™ 2013, the
Bank of Canada showed that one Canadian Dollar was worth 498.0080 XAF.
For Part 1, in this ITO, | will put in bracket the value [$CAD] in reference to May
2", 2013. | also learned that on December 31%, 2012, one Canadian Doliar was
worth 500.0000 XAF. For Part 2, in this ITO, | will put in bracket the value
I$CAD] in reference to Dacember 31%, 2012,

[l belleve that the terms “XAF”, “Fcfa”, “CFA Franc" and "CFA" are the
same currency and that when it Is indicated “M CFA” it means millions
CFA. | came atross these terms from reviewing e-malls and documents,
which slgnifies the same currency.]

I accessed the “Investopedia” webslie at
www.Investopedia.com/terms/fc/cfa-franc.asp and | learnad that the acronym
“GFA" in French stands for “Communauté Financiére d'Afrique’ {African
Financial Communlty}].

Projact “ALOES” began Iin October 2013 after [EEEIRICHENNE. a Canadian
cltizen working as [ EEENNNNER for Magindustries in the Republic of Congo
{ROC), sent an e-mall to the Trade Commissionsr at the Canadlan Embassy in
Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of Congo (DRQOCQC), reporting a payment made by
the company that violated Canadian law. The Department of Foreign Affairs and
Trade Development then reported the sllegation to the RCMP. There are two
countries in Africa which are named Congo, One is known as tha “Republic of
Cango™ (ROC), and the second country, which is adlacent to It, 1s known as the
"Democratic Republic of Congo™ (DROC).

Magindustries, a publicly traded Canadian company on the Toronto Stock
Exchange (TSX), was established In 1997 to evaluate key mineral licenses In the
ROC. Its corporate head office Is focated In Toronto, Cntarlo.

worked for MagMinerals Polasses Congo SA, a subsidiary of
Maglndustries in the ROC from January of 2012 to September of 2013. He met
with RCMP investigators and provided a video statement regarding two illegal

‘cash payments made on May 2", 2013, of 5,000,000 XAF [$10,040 CAD] tow

Page | 9




et by s o WA e gt (14 2

19)

20)

21)

22)

23)

24}

25)

L L e RER and a payment of 1,000,000 XAF
[$2,008 CAD] to his defegation. — thought the payments were illogal and
provided copies of financial documents related to the payments to investigators.
He bellevad the payments were made in relation to an expropriation project
sought by Magindusiries. | believe that an exprepriation Is an authorization to
take private land for public use by the government without the consent of the
owners. MagMinerals Potassas Congo SA was facing a blg issue congerning
the operations of the expropriation project and to complete the process of the
axpropriation of 280 hectares of land in the new port area.

on Juiy 30" 2013, [EEEEE sent an anonymous e-mail complaint to
Maglndustries, reporting the illegal payment made to the [EiEEEE on May 2%,
2013,

In August 2013, Geoff Woo, Financial Controller for Magindustries in Toronfo,
and Michasl Gunns, a Consultant for Magindustrles, traveled to the ROC and
both met with |- RN reported to Michael Gunns that he refused to
authorize tho aforementioned payment. As a result of [EEEEEEs refusal,
Shoublng Li, Jin {King) Zhongping, Jun Tian and Fullang Wang authorized the
payment made In cash. Magindustries In the Toronto offlco was aware of the
payment.

In September 2013, Gaoff Woo offered [Jillla position in Toronto at a lower
salary, and IR fo't #t was a demotion. Lator, [N received a revised
offer explaining that his position had besn eliminated due to a re-organization.
IBEERE rcfused the revised offer and in November 2013, he signed a release to
end his employment with Magindustries.

In September 2013, MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA was worrled about the
relationship between Michael Gunns and SRR If they act togethor [ RERE
was likely to provide Gunns with information considered problematic durng his
work in Pointe Nolre, ROC that could damage the company.

In March 2014, a search warrant was executed at the business premises of
Radiant Communications, a third party e-mall provider for Magindustries and all
e-mails andlor electronlc communication between December 1%, 2012 and
December 1%, 2013, belonging to Magindustries or its employees were seized
from the business of Radlant Communications.

Information ssized at Radlant Communications demonstrated that in 2013,
Mag!ndustries faced issues regarding the expropriation project it was seeking.
Magindustries officals {(Jun Tian, Fullang Wang and Longho Chen) then invited
the NI to isit the'r project. Days before the visit, the [ IENERE
requested a payment of 5,000,000 CFA [$10,040 CAD] to coordinate obtalning
the support from the Fremler and the Mayor of Polnte Noire and Koullou required
for the expropriation. This Is the request for payment that [N refused to
authorize which was ultimately approved by Fullang Wang, Deputy General
Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA, Jun Tian, Head of Project
Deavelopment for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA and Jin Zhongping,
Developmant Speclalist for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA.

As will be detailad in this ITO below, Longbo Chen Fullang Wang and Jun Tlan
aiso invited B e, to visit China with his wife

and his entourage during the same perlod of time that Maglndustries was
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26)

Part2

27)

28)

20)

30)

31)

experloncing difficultios with thelr expropriation project. [t will be explained that
although the invitation was signed by Longbo Chen, and delivared by Jun Tian,
Chen requested that it be made using a different company's letterhead.

| have reasonable grounds fo belleve that employees of Magindustrles, Jun Tlan,
Fullang Wang and Jin Zhongping agreed and then paid a bribe to NN,
a Forelgn Public Government Offictal In order fo gain approval for the
expropriation of land the company wanted, thus gaining an iilegal buslness
advanfage.

The investigation has revealed that Eucalyptus Flbre Gongo, a subsldiary of
Magindustrtes In the ROC was Involved in the payments of bribes. These are
reforred to as "black money"' and “under the table" payments by Eucalyptus Fibre
Congo, Magindustries and the auditing firm, Emst & Young (EY). These
payments were made In order lo lower taxes owsd by the company fo the
Congolese government. The payments allowed for Eucalyptus Fibre Congo to
avold paying fines imposed by the tax authoritiss thus resulting in a substantial
financial benefit of the sald company. A spreadsheet, seized as par of the
investigation, as well as e-mails, showed that Eucalyptus Fibre Congo
employees, Magindustries management in the RQC and Toronle were made
aware of the paymenis during the audit conducied by the firm EY., These
payments caused concem for Maglndustries’ management, who then decided to
investigate further. As tax authority ultimately rests with government, | belfeve
that although the persons who received tha money are not known at this point, it
can only be Congolese Public Officials who had the appropriate authority to setile
these fines.

Evidence showed that Eucalyptus Flbre Congo had developed a sophisticated
structure where two sets of books (zccounting) were used, and a third parly
company was established to pay the bribes, |t was also suggested that only
Chinese employees should be employed in Eucalyptus Fibre Conhgo's Human
Resources and Finance department. These steps were taken In order to shleld

 Eucalyptus Flbre Congo from criminal liabllity and demonsirate the exient lo
which the company engaged in llegal praciices In order to gain an unfalr

business advantage and defraud the ROC by not paying the full taxes owed.
This practice also put Maglndustries' shareholders at risk as these practices are
iilegal and could, If discovered, affect Magindustrles’ share price on the Toronto
Slock Exchange.

In total, five payments were made to unknown persons for a total of 45,000,000
CFA [$90,360 CAD]. Eucalyptus Fibre Congo benefitted from those payments by
not having to pay $716,935 CAD.

| am seeking a search warrant fo search the buginess premises of Magindusiries
in Toronto because | belleve that the documents andfor data (“Things to search
for"y will afford evidence of the offences under investigation.

| am also seeking a production order to he sarved upon Ernst & Young because i
belleve that the "Things to be produced” will afford avidence of the offences

under nvestigation. ‘ Q ’
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32)

During the analysis of the data seized at Radiant Communications, investigators
came across some potentially solicitor-client privileged data from several
lawyers. The course of action taken was that the potentlally privileged
documents were no longer accessed and werg oxcluded from future searchss.
All documents, In which these people were a party, wera rendered Inaccessible
to investigators.

[Unless otharwlse stated, when | refer to e-malls and/or attachments as Hl
read an e-mail” or “l read an attachment”, | acquired the knowledge from
reading a-mails and/or the attachments selzed at Radiant Communlcations
and subsequently flagged as pertinent by Investigators who were
conducting the review of the seized electronic data.]

[As will be polnted out in the grounds to belleve, certain documants wera
translated from Chiness to English by Barbee Sit and Dean Yung, both
certlfled RCMP tfranslators. Due to the differences between English and
Chinese, It sometimes sesms that certaln words are missing but | did not
altar thesas sentencas for fear of being misteading.)

GROUNDS FOR BELIEF

Corruptlon In tha Republic of Con

33)

| accessed the website from the United States Embassy in the ROC at
brazzaville.usembassy.gov and | read the country report titled "2012 Investment
Climate Statement” which pertalns to the ROC, From fhe repon, | learned that:

{a) The ROC is located in Central Africa. The population Is estimated at 3.8
million and most of the inhabitants live in the three main clties of Brazzaville
(Capital), Pointe Noire and Bofisie. It is adjacent fo the DROC.

(b} The ROC's Investment climate Is consfrained by bribery. Corruption is
ragulary linked to the conduct of business In the country.  For instance,
coniract terms are not clear and bribes are froquently requested even though
the Congolese law forbids them. The ROC is Improving by puiting in place
mechanisms {0 addrass the challenges of corruption. However, the country sill
experiences major corruption and transparency ssues. The timber Industry is
also experiencing similar corruption challenges as the mining sector.

Renubllc of Congo corruption law

34)

I read Congolese law no5-2009 dated September 22, 2009, on corruption and
published on Octobar 1%, 2009, in the Official Journal of the Republic of Congo.
The document is written in French and titled "JOURNAL OFFICIEL - DE LA
REPUBLIQUE DU CONGO - paralssant ls joudl de chaque semaina &
Brazzaville”. The law in the ROC regarding corruption states the following:

{a) Section 2 defines comuption. Acts of corruption are commisslons undue
given or recaived by persons with public or private functions as well as the
actions of those above when they meant or breach of duties arising out of
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thelr status as official commissions, private employse, independent agent, or
obtalning ilfegal banefits of any nature for themselves or others;

(b) Section 3 deflnes the punishment. It is punishable by imprisonment of two to
ten years and a fine equivalent to twice the value of promlises endorged or
things received or requasted, with a minimum of 1,000,000 CFA:

{i) All persons invested with an elacted mandate, administrative or Judicial,
publle official, military, agent or empioyee under the control of public
authority administration, or cltizen charged with a misslon public service,
soliclt or accapt offers or promises, sollclt or raceive gifts, to do or refrain
from doing any act of his duties or employment,

ompany named In this ITO

Magindustries

36) | accessed the Industry Canada website at www.lcgeca and | learnsd that
Magindustries Corp, and MagMinerals Potash Corp. are incorporated in Canada,

36) | accessed the Magindustries website at www.magindustries.com and | leamed
that:

(a) Magindustries was established in 1097 to evaluate key mineral licanses
acquired in the ROC, During the following years they solidified their presence
in the reglon and created a base of assets, operations and people that would
help them to capitellze on the potentfial of thelr licenses to build value for thelr
shareholders.

{b) Maglndustries has thres business units:

{i) MagForestry which owns and operates Eucalyptus Fibre Congo (EFC), a
business based in Pointe Noire, ROC, ‘

(i} MagMinerals which is devsloping the Mengo Potash projact in the
Republic of Conge, and the subsidiary MagPotasses du Congo {MPC), a
business based in Polnte Nolre, ROC;

[I belleve that “MagPotasses du Congo” (MPC) is the same as
“MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA”, as both namss are listad on the
Magindustrias website].

(iil) Potasse du Cohgo, a potash exploration division, based in the ROC.

{c) Magindustries Corporale head office is located at 33 Yonge Street, Suite 820,
Toronito, Ontario, Canada. They have three reglonal offices:

{i) Eucalyptus Fibre Congo located at Benoit Loembet Avenue, BP 430,
Potnte Noire, ROC; '

(i) MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA situated in the Atlantic Palace bullding
at Charles de Gaulle Avenue, BP 1128, Pointe Noire, ROC;

{lli) Magindustries Services Inc located at 46 Dayrelis Road, Christ Church BS
14030, Barbados, West indies. Q/Q

Page | 13




(d) Maglndustries describes itself as belng committed to high standards including
accountability and responsibiiity. Corporate responsibilities mentioned are
human rights, bribery and corruption as well as providing financial disclosure.

{8) Magindustries is publically fraded and listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange
under the trading symbol “MAA"™.  As of October 1%, 2044, the share value
was listed at $0.19 CAD.

{f) Evergreen Resources Holding Ltd, a Chinese company and subsidiary of the
Evargreen Industries Group, owns approximately 86.4% of Magindustes’
common shares.

{g) Tha Board of Direclors consists of the followling;
{i} Xiaolei (Simon}Liang: Chairman;
(i) Gerry Wang: Lead Director;
{iit) Yuan Ding: Diractor;

[l accessed the Magindustrles website at www.magindustries.com and |
learned that Yuan Ding is a member of the Board of Directors and the
Chair of the Audlt Committes for Magindustrles. Yuan Ding recelved a
PhD in Accounting from the Institute of Enterprises Administration at
the University Montesquieu Bordeaux IV In France.]

[i believe that Yuan Ding is also referred to as Dr. Ding, because of his
PhD.}

(iv) Longbo Ghan: Director;
{v) Qiang Jiang: Director;
{viyWeiguo (William) He: Director;

[l belleve that Weiguo (William) He is a lawyer for Davis LLP Law Firm
based in Vancouver, British Columbla. On April 9", 2014, after learning
that Welguo William He had a Maglindustrles emall address of
whe@magindustries.com, all items with the word *whe" ware tagged
privileged from the documenis seized at Radiant Communlcations and
were no longer accessed by investigators.]

{vii} Anming Zhang: Director;

(h}y MagForesiry owns Eucalyptus Fibre Congo, which is based in Polnte Noire In
the ROC. The Eucalyptus Fibre Congo plantation supplies 500,000 tonnes per
year of wood chip plants built by Eucalyptus Fibre Conge on ils concession
lands focated within the port of Pointe Nolre;

(1) MagMineral Potasses Congo SA (MPC), which is a Magindustries’ subsidiary,
signed a Potash investment Agreement with the government of the RQC for
the devalopmeant of the Mengo Project. The potash deposit Is presently under
development and the goal for the faciory Is to produce 1.2 million tonnes of

potash per year. XS&
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Witneas named in this ITO

37)

38)

I listened to the audio and video recordings of the witness statement of [IEEERS
B taien on December 2,-2013, and Decamber 3™, 2013, by Sergeant
Denls Beaudoin and Staff Sergeant Martin Badard, both members of the RCMP
in Ottawa. The interview took place at the Canadian Embassy In Kinshasa,
DROC. To facilitate the reading of this ITO, | will refer to the interview as “in hls
statement EERERER..". When | refer to *in his statement, [, | acquired
the knowledge included in the paragraph from listening to the audlo and video of
his statemant.

in his statement, [EERER oxplained that:

(a)Ha iz a Canadian citizen, a Certified Management Accountant and a
Chartered Public Accountant, He completed a Bachaler In Accounting
Sclences and a Bachelor in Business Adminisiration, Speciaflizafion In
Finance;

{b) He previously worked for Deloitte and Touche Inc as an auditor;

(c) in December 2011, he was hirad as [ NEEEEEERER for Magindustries by
Will Burton, Former Chief Financlal Officer (CFQ) and Longba Chen, Chief
Exscutive Officer (CEQ). [HEEERRR arrived In the ROC in January 2012. At
Maglndustrigs, six people reported to JNEIEEE and he was the second person
In charge of the Department of Finance in the ROG for Magindustrles,

Foreign public_officlals named jn thiz ITO
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Taronto Maalndusirles smployees named in thlg ITO

Wil Burton — Formar Chief Financial Officer {CFO) of Magindustries

49) i accessed the Linkadln website af hitp:/cadinkedin.com and | leamed that Will
Burton is the Formsr Vice-President and CFO of Magindustries. He worked al
Maglndustries from April 2006 to March 2013.

Geaoff Woo - Chlef Financial Officer

60) | read an attachment fo an e-mall sent on December 24™, 2013, which Is an
employae list, and i leamed that Geoff Woo was a Financlal Controiler for
Maglndustries,

il belleve that Geoff Woo was a Financial Controller for Magindustries [n
Teronto prlor to his promotion in February 2014.)

51) Iread a report titled “Magindustries Annual Information Form® for the year snding
December 31% 2013, and | leared that on February 24", 2014, Geoff Woo was
appointed Chief Financial Officer of the company.

Rich Morrow - Diractor of Investor Refatlons and Corparate Development

52) |read an e-mall sent on June 8™, 2013, by Rich Morrow and ) learned that he is
the Director of Investor Relations and Corporate Development for Magindustries
in Toronto.

Nardla Smith - Human Rasource for Magindustries

53} | read an e-mail sent on November 8%, 2013, by Nardia Smith and | fearned that
she Is a Human Resources Specialist for Magindustries in Toronto.

Yug Ma — Corporate Development Assoclate for Magindustries

54) | accessed the Linkedin website at htip://ca.linkedin.com and | learned that Yue
Ma has bseen In the posiHlon of Corporate Development Assoclate with
Magindustries in Toronto since May 2013, W

A~
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Loondeo Bekah — Assistant Controller for Magindustries

55) | read an aftachment to an e-mall sent on December 24% 2013, which Is an
employse list, and | learned that Loondeo Bekah ls an Assistant Controller at
Maglndustries In Toronto.

Michae! Gunns — Censultant for Magindustries in Toronto

86} In his statement, | EENRER stated that Michael Gunns was an Internal Control
Expert, a Consultant for Magindustries and a Certified Chartered Accountant in
Toronto.

57) | read a document attached to an e-mail sent on October 16", 2013, which
described the work history of Michael Gunns, FCPA, FCA and | learned that he Is
a Former Chalr of the Risk Management and Governance Board of the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants. He was a fellow of the Ontario Institute of
Chartered Accountants and a graduate of Harvard Business School's Advanced
Management Program. He was contracted by Maglndustries as a Corporate
Governance Speclallst,

[I viewed the Chartered Professionat Accountants Ontario (CPA) website at
www.cpaontarlo.ca and | learned that the designation “FCPA, FCA” Is the
highest designation awarded by CPA for outstanding caresr achlevements
as well as outstanding sarvice to the community and the profession.]

Republlc of Congo Magindustries employees named in this ITO

Shoubing LI -~ Finance Director for MagMinerals Pofasses Congoe SA In the
Republic of Congo

58) | read an attachment to an e-mall sent on December 24™, 2013, which Is an
aemployee list, and | learned that Shoubing LI is a Finance Director for
MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA and was hired on April 9", 2013. Shoubing
Li's Manager Is Longho Chen,

Fullang Wang — Deputy General Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA

89) 1 read an attachment to an e-mail sent on December 24™, 2013, which is an
employee ilst, and | learned that Fullang Wang s a Deputy General Manager for
MagMIinerals Potasses Congo SA. Fullang Wang's Manager is Longbo Chen,

Jun Tian — Head of Project Davelopment for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA

60) From reviewing the statement of s &7, | learned that Jun Tian is the
Head of Project Development for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA, w
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Jin Zhongplng - Development Spacialist for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA

61) | read an attachment to an e-mail sent on December 24", 2013, which is an
employae list, and | learned that Jin Zhongping Is a Development Speclalist for
MagMinerale Potasses Congo SA,

62) From reviewing the statement of NRERIIREEREE . | learned that Jun Tian is Jin
{King) Zhongping's supervisor.

HuamIng Zhou — Finance Manager for MagMInerals Potasses Congo SA

63) | read an attachment to an e-mail sent on January 22™, 2013, fitled “MPC
represantation draft.docx” and | learned that Huaming Zhou Is a Finance
Manager for MaghMinerals Potasses Congo SA.

Kevin Stephens - Risk Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA

64) I read an e-mail sent on March 27" 2013, from Kevin Stephens and [ learned
thal he is a Risk Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA.

Alchun Dong — Advisor to the General Manager for MagMinerais Potasses Congo
SA

85) 1 read an attachment to an e-mail sent on December 24", 2013, which Is an
employee list, and | Jearned that Alchun Dong is an Advisor to the General
Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA and was hired on March 12",
2013. Alchun Dong’s Manager is Longbo Chen,

66) |read an e-mall saenton August 16", 2013, from Alchun Dong and | learned that
she addressed herself as Alice Dong.

Feng Huang ~ Chief Executive Offlcer (CEQ) of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo

87) | read an sttachment titled Letter of Representation and | learned that Feng
Huang s the CEO of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo in the ROC.

Cheng Han Yeh — Daputy General Manager of Eucé!yptus Fibre Congo

68) | read an attachment to an e-mall sent on December 24", 2013, which is an
employee list, and | learned that Cheng Han Yeh Is a Deputy General Manager
of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo in the ROC and was hired on July 26", 2012. Cheng
Han Yeh's Manager s Feng Huang. w :
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89} [ read an e-mall dated December 11" 2012, from Cheng Han Yeh to Michael
Gunns and | leamed that the individual addressed himself as "Hank Yeh'.

70)  Iread an e-mail dated December 12", 2012, from Michael Gunns o Cheng Han
Yeh and | leamed that Michasl Gunns addressed him as "Hank®.

[t balieve that Cheng Han Yeh is aiso referred to as Hank.}

Yong Cao - Finance Diractor of Eucalyptus Flbre Congo

71} | read an attachment to an s-mail sent on Decembsr 24", 2013, which is an
employea list, and | learned that Yong Cao Is a Finance Director of Eucalyptus
Flbre Congo In the ROC and was hired on February 18" 2012. Yong Cao’s
Manager Is Feng Huang.

72) 1 read an e-mail dated May 9, 2013, from Michasl Gunns to Rich Morrow and |
tearned that he refarrad to Yong Cao as “Gao Yong (Carl)”.

[l belleve that Yong Gao is also referred to as Cao Yong (Cari).]

Ernst & Younp employae named In this ITO

Ashraf Zinaeldin — Canadian Partner at EY In Toronto

73) | accossed the Linkedin website at http:ffca.inkedin.com and | lsarmed that
Ashraf Zineldn is a Partner in Assurance Services at EY in Toronto since
January 2007,

74) | read an e-mall dated March 26™, 2013, from Ashraf Zineidin to Michael Gunns
and | learned that his work address Is listed as EY Towar, 222 Bay Strest, P.O.
Box 251, Toronto, Ontario.

Exproprilation process In the ROC — Assessment of the Koullou Potash Project

75} | raad a section of an environmental and soclal Impact assessment on the
Magindustries website pertaining to expropriation for the Kouilou Potash Projact
for the ROC (Volume [} released in February 2010, The assessment was
prepared for Magindustries by Genivar, with support from Environment Plus and
reviowad by SNGC Lavalin. A section of the document describes the expropriation
process for “reasons of public interest” in the ROC. This expropriation process
has four phases:

(a) The preliminary enquirygg)
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76)

| read an e-mail sent by [ EEREE.
learnad that:

I} The preliminary enquiry is an administrafive procedurs whose goal is to
inform and consult the membars of the public about a project which is likely to
lead to an expropriation. The expropriation process is launched as soon as
the expropriator sends a flle to the Minister of Landownership Reform and the
Preservation of the Public Domain. Regarding the file, the Minister nominates
a commission of enquity and stipulates the objectives, the opening date as
well as the duration. }f necessary, a meeting can alsc be held with members
of the public for them to voice thelr concerns. An enquiry report Is sent to the
Minister for Landownership Reform and the Preservation of the Public
Domaln, the Minister responsible for fand administration, as well as the
Minister rosponsible for the project after reviewing the commants of the
persons concerned by the expropriation. At that moment, these ministers
ovaluate whethor or not to carry out the expropriation project on the location
tarngeted;

{b} The public utllity declaration:

1) The public utility declaration includes the act by which the Government
declares that pursuing an operation implicates a general interest, which is
adequate to justify the expropriation process. In order for the exproprlation to
be carried out, public utllity has to be affirmed by a ministerial order or by a
vardict which limits Its period of validily, the nature of the work, the area
Implicated and the timescale;

{c} The plot enquilry:

i) The plot enquiry allows the administration, after hearing all pariles, to
determine which plots are to be expropriated, to search for the owners of
proparty and others concerned;

~{d) Tha deed of transferabllity and demand for full expropriation:

i) The ministerial order of transferability is the act by which the appropriate
authority draws up the list of plots to bs expropriated. Thoss having their
property expropriated are notified and the act is also released in the Officlal
Journal. The transfer of ownership can be suppored elther by the
expropriation judge's deciston or through mutual agreement,

Inltlal complaint

B8 to Sergeant Denis Beaudoln and !

violating Canadian gand Congolese law.
being “squeezed out” of his company for bringing it up to the Company's

Management. QR
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77)

78)

[l accessed the following wabsite of the Canadian Embassy of the
Republic of Congo at www.canadainternational.ge.ca/congofcontact-
contactez.aspx. | believe that the acronym “KNSHA” is an e-mail address
belonging to the Canadlan Embassy in Kinshasa, PROC].

f cost code res d for th rt aroa land expropriation

| read an e-mall and two attachments sent on March 27", 2013, from Kevin
Stephens, Risk Manager MagMinerals Potasses Congc SA, to Yue Ma,
Corporate Development Associate regarding a service note from the Minisiry of
Land Affalrs. | learned that Magindustries received a service note dated March
27" 2013, signed by Plerre Mabiala, Ministér, explaining that an exproprlation
commission had bsen put in place under his guidance. The Presldent of the
Commission was Francls Vethey Bemba, Advisor to the Minlster of Land Affairs.

1 read an e-mail dated March 30™, 2013, from Huaming Zhou, Finance Manager
for MagMineraig Potasses Congo SA where he advised that ali expenses In
relation to entertainment of the commission, including flight tickets, hotel
accommodations, and psr disms will be under the cost code of PDD-PLA-
060007,

MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA faces [ssues regarding the land expropriation

and seeks the assistance of the Minister

79)

a0)

Paragraphs 80 and 81, describe e-maifs sent on April 10%, 2013 and April 11%,
2013. They have been translated from Chinase to English by a cartified RCMP
transiator.

| read an e-mall, sent on April 10", 2013, from Jun Tian, Head of Project
Pavelopment for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA, to Fullang Wang, Deputy
General Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA, copled to Chen Longbo,
CEQ of Maglndustries and Yue Ma, Corporate Development Assoclate for
Maglndustries in Toronto. |learned that Jun Tlan wrote that:

{a) MagMinerais Potagses Congo SA was facing a blg issue concerning the land
expropriation, particularly in the new port area concerning 280 hectares of
land. On Apri 1%, the Homeland Minlster committed that he would start to
cooperate with MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA and begin work with related
land expropriation;

{b) Last week, Francis, {Ministers consultant} and key members of Land
Expropriation Department from the province of Kouilou were summoned by
the Homsland Minister and the Mining Minister to deal with another
company's land expropriation issue;

(c) On Aprll 8", Francls returned to Polnte Nolre to supposadly initlate the
MagMinerals Potasses Gongo SA's work, but on April 9™, he was told by the
Homeland Minister 10 go to Brazzaville. The land expropriation task has still

not begun; Jﬁ)
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81)

82)

(d) He {Juan Tlan) would go to Brazzavlile tomorrow to focus and negotlate with
Francis. A letter was drafted (In French edition + in French and Chinese
edition) with Manager Chen's name in order to glve more pressure to
Homsland Department and to urge the Homsland Minister to interfere.

{l belisve that the dates {ncluded In this paragraph are in 2013.]

Following the pravious e-mail, five othar e-malls were exchanged betwesn Jun
Tian and Longbo Chen which were copied to Fullang Wang and Yue Ma. { read
these five emails and leared that Chen inquired about the progress of the
mvitetior iR R

. Jun Tian replled asking Chen If the Invitation
letter had o be under Mag's CEQ's name to which Chan replied that there was
an issue with Mag's Invilation and he suggested using Evergreen’s name
instead. On Aprll 11", 2013, Jun Tlan wrote that if the lefter could be signed, he
would meat [JJSSEEEEE to discuss the land expropriation matters and the visit to
China. Longbo Chen later stated that he could sign the lefter tomorrow and that
IR o bring two to three people for his visit to China and if could iast

" for five to seven days. To avoid dealing with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Chen

wrote that he should be repressnted as a private cltizen, [ S Chen
then wrote that “to pressure the ST :o/med
schedule cannot be casual, frust s important” and that he {Chen) can baar two or
three days delay for the actual work, but he made It clear that they “absolufely
cannot be slacki”.

| read two attachments in French sent on April 1% 2013, at 09:52 hours from
Xlngxing Xu to Jun Tian, copled to Chen Longbo, Fullang Wang and Yue Ma. |
isamed that the attachments consisted of the followlng:

(a) A lefter dated Aprit 10%, 2013, signed by Longbo Chen and written on
MagMinerals Potasses Congo's letterhead. it was addressed to the [EEEEE
soliciting an intarventlon for the
axpropriation project. The letter explains that they had a fruitfut meeting In
Brazzaville and the commitment from [N was to provide speciai
assistance regarding the operations of the expropriation project and to
complete the process of expropriation of 200 hectares in the region of the
new port before Aprl 15™, 2013. MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA was
encountering difficulties with the avallability of the employses under his
guardlanshlp and is soliclting his assistance.

(b} A letter dated April 10", 2013, signed by Longbo Chen and written on
Evergreen Holding Group's letterhead addressed to the i e
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83)

| read an e-mall sent on April 12", 2013, from Jun Tlan to Xingxing Xu, copled to
Chen Longbo and Fullang Wang. The e-mall was translated from Chinese to
English by a certifled RCMP transiator. [ learned that Jun Tlan submitied it (the
lotters) yesterday and he still has nof seen the RS Jun Tian wrote that he Is
“making necessary communication links with the Adminisiration Director”.

84)

| read an e-mail sent on April 28" 2013, by Jun Tian, Head of Project
Development for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA to Fullang Wang, Depuly
General Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA reporting on his work in
Brazzaville. The e-mall was transfated from Chinesé to English by a certified
RCMP translator. | learned that Jun Tian wrote that:

(a) The EEEEREREREERE oped that his wife could accompany him for his trip
to China. It stated that Jun Tlan advised Manager Chen and obtained
approval. ISR confirmed that his trip to China would be from July 1*
to 10", and he requested an itinerary and visit;

[f belleve that the 5 miliion GFA requested in this e-mail Is the cash
payment that B : i ofusod to authorize and raportilsl@ the

Canadian author[tles, based on the #fmeframe and the amount.]
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{d) He needed the Financial Dapartment to prepare the cash since May 1" was a
holiday. He would go to the Homeland Department to get a list of members,
expeanses and linerary as soon as possible to pass on to Ministry of Finance
and Genoral Affalrs Department;

(e) The !Implementation of the Land Expropriation Commiitee ceremony contains
three parts as follows:

1} Welcome speach by MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA;

i) Project praview by MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA,;

[l belteve that the dates included in this paragraph are In 2013.]

Reguest f ent of 6,000,000 to Govearniment Officials

86)

In his statement, [[FEERERE oxplained that on May 2", 2013, he saw two financlal
forms for approval on his desk related to the cash payment. Sergeant Denls
Beaudoln presented copies of these forms that [ had previously
sent. |EEENER described these two forms as:

(a) "DEMANDE D'AVANCE SUR DEPENSE" -  Expense Reguest Form

(APPENDIX A);

) SN explained that the purpose of this form was to have expenses
approvad;

iiy The payment was requested by Jin (King)} Zhongping whe was In charge of
Projec’t Development The reason for the payment was expenses for the

G e - e The accounting code
PDD-PLA 05000‘! was on n the form which _ described as being used
for per dlem payments. The amount of the payment was 6,000,000 CFA
{$12,048 CAD]L. He believed that the requesters signature was King
Zhongping and the form was dated May 2", 2013,

iy B believed that the payment was approved and signed by Jun Tian,
Head of Project Development, who s also King Zhongping's boss;

iv) Fullang Wang, the Deputy General Manager signed the form.jg
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87)

i) He explained that the purpose of this form s to provide the Justification and
the datalls of the expense;

i) He mentioned that the year on the receipt should be 2013 Instead of 2012.
HEIE oxpieined that the receipt was possibly made by the Cashler using
an older form;

if) He describad “Souveraineté” (soverelgnty) as a government term and “Frais
de Mission Forfait’ (Delegation expense) as expenses for someone who

could be with the IR

vi) He believed that the two signatures on the bottom of the form are Fullang
Wang, the Depuly General Managsr and Jun Tian, Head of Project
Development;

vil) This form Is In relation to the launching of the expropriation commisslon for
the Mengo Project. Mengo Is a village North of Pointe Noire In the ROC
whare the Project Is located.

IREERER further stated that:

{a) He did not slgn to authorize the payment tofaling 6,000,000 CFA [$12,048
CAD}

(b) He spoke 1o Shoubing Li, Finance Director for MagMinerals Potasses Congo
SA, regarding the possibla illegal payment according to Canadian legistation.
Shoubing Li told [ that he worked elsowhere in Afrlca and that it was
the way fo conduct business in Africa.

[l belleve that Shoubing Li expressad that payments to Forelgn Public
Officials are necessary to conduct business in Africa in order to davelop
the project.]

(¢) From the discussion with Shoubing Li, [EESEEEE understood that the payment
was going to be made. Shoubing Li confirmed that he would assume the
rosponsibility for the approval for that specific payment and any future
payments raquest if necessary,

{d)it was a significant payment, MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA Kept
approximately 10,000,000 CFA [$20,080 CAD] in cash in the office, so it
would have required a cash replenishment. \)Q
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89)

[l beliave that the payment was In fact made because | read an e-mail

sent on May 6", 2013, by EEETEERERgY indicating that the cashier,
negdad to do a cash replonishment.]

Bekah, Assistant Controller at Maglindustrdes in Toronto and | learned the
followlng:

the Minister of Land Affairs of the Republic of Congo put in place a Land
Expropriaion Commission and mandated the Commission to finish
axproptiation as fast as possible on the 200 hactares of land occupied by the
locals;

1 read an e-mall and an attachment sent on May 10", 2013, from Jun Tian, Head
of Projact Development for MagMinerals Potasses Conhgo SA, fo Elisabeth
Bouanga, Chlef of Community Services for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA,
and | learned that MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA obtained authority fo occupy
260 hectares of land in port Zzone in Pointe Noire.
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Authorization of payment of 6,000,000 CFA

90) In his statement, | EERER explained that later in May 2013, he saw a form titled

“BON DE SORTIE/ENTREE DE CAISSE" - dated May 2™, 2013, (APPENDIX
C). IR consulted and Initialed a copy of this form which he had previously
sent by e-mail to Sergeant Denis Beaudoln, He described this form as belng
used to obtain money from the cashier, Fanie Tchissambou. [EEENE also
indlcated that;

(a) The requester and beneficiary is King Zhongping. [IEGENEGEENGEEEEE
]

The budget code
was 421140 which is used in the accounting in the general ledger. The
standard projact code PDD-PLA 050007 Is related o per diem payments;

{b) On the form, NN Identified three signatures:
I} The signaturs under ‘Vlsa Calsse” was Fanie Tehissambou;
i} The signature under “Visa Bénéficlalre” was King Zhongping;
i) The signature under “Visa DAF” was Shoubling Li.

(c) First, [ a5 unsure about tha Beneficlary Visa signature on the
form as I Is uncommon to have the same person who is the requester and
the beneflclary. After comparing signatures with APPENDIX A and
APPENDIX C, [ERR believed that the Beneficiary Visa signature was King
Zhongping.

fl reviewed APPENDICES A and C and Jin (King) Zhongplng's slgnature
In APPENDIX A did not appear to be identlcal to the Beneflclary Visa
signature In APPENDIX C].

seeks adyice from Pricewaterho [+]

in his staterent, |JESSE oxplained that:

(a) Following the request for payment dated May 2™, 2013, he sought advice
from PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC), Financlal Advisors for Magindustries;

(b) He met with Motse Kokolo from PricewaterhouseCoopers on May 24", 2013
fo discuss the payments allowed with raspect to the local and Canadian
leglsiation to Govermment Officlals. Molse Kokolo shared that according to
Congolese regulations, payments for per diems {o members of a Congolese
Government Officlals cannot excsed 150,000 CFA [$301.20 CAD]. Also,
Moise Kokolo provided a copy of the “Congolese Law no. 94-8” to
titled “Décret no 94-8 du 27 Janvier 1894 fixant fe régime des Indemnités de
déplacemant des agents de Etat”. m ,
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[i accessed the PricewaterhouseCoopers website at
WwWW.pWe.co.zafen_ZA/../republic-of-congo-draft-2013-finance-act.pdf  and
saw Molse Kokolo, listed under the PricewaterhouseGoopers adviser
fieontacts” tab with his phone number and e-mall address. On Aprll 7™,
2014, during the analysls of selzed elactronic data, | became aware that
Molse Kokolo Is a lawyer for PricewaterhouseCoopers in the ROC. Since
the information Included In thls paragraph was provided by
, | balleva that the solicitor-cllent privilege no longer appiles.]

sent a copy of the law he was provided by Molge
Kokolo to Sergeant Denls Bsaudoin which [ read. | learnad that the
document is regarding the indemnities of travel expenses for Congolese
Govarnmant Officials. The document outlines catagorles of Governmant
Officlals and the maximum allowad to ba pald. The limit for a Minister is
180,000 CFA [$301.20 CAD].]

(c) After his meeting with Moise Kokalo, he told his supervisor, Shoubing LI, that
he was refusing to sign any per diem payments above 150,000 CFA [$301.20
CAD] to Government Officlals. [JEEEEIE stated that Shoubing Li told him that
he (Shoubing L) would authorize future payments if over the limit.

Discussion regarding the elimipation o rior of the arrival of the
new accounting supervisor :

92)

93)

| read an e-mail sent on Juns 4%, 2013, from Shoubing Li, Finance Dirsctor for
MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA, to Langbo Chen, CEQ of Magindustries, The

" e-mall was translated from Chinese to English by a certified RCMP {ranslator, |

laarned that Shoubing LI stated that Magindustrles was In the process of hiring
an accounting supervisor which “must be based on cauticus selection, overall
assessment and careful consideration”. Shoublng LI would like a keen and
dliligent candidate In business flnance and preferably would have overseas work
experience. Shoubing Li discussed the situation at length with Mr. Dong and
they bslieved that some individuals can be efiminated prior to the arrival of the
new accounting supervisor. Shoubing LI named Sl as an example of one that
should be eliminated.

il belleve that [ bocause of the type of financlal

position manticnad In this paragraph.]

{1 belleve that Mr. Dong is Alchun Dong, Advisor to the General Manager for
MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA, Alchun Dong Is known as Alice Dong.]

[l further believe that Shoubing Li's opinlon to eliminate (DT
was a recent decision, because | reviewod [IEREUENGNRS s Work visa for
the ROC and learned that it was renewed on May 13", 2013 and valid untli
May 12", 2016.]

In his stafement, SEE== explained that he had received information from the
Former CFO of MaglIndustries, Will Burton, on how to anonymously report illegal

or unethical incldents using an ancnymous function on his Magindustries e-mail M .
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94)

a5y

— meets Michasl Gunns jn the Republie of Congo

96)

address, Using this tool, on July 30", 2013, FERTERGEGESEE 2nohymously

reported via e-mall that a payment of 5,000,000 CFA {$10 000 CAD] was made -
to a Government Officlal on May 2™, 2013. R expected that the head

offica of Magindustries would conduct an investigation on the payment.

[l read an e-mall dated July 30", 2013, from “Anonymous Anonyme" which
stated In French "Un palement de 5,000,000 XAF a été fait 3 un membre du
gouvernement le 2 mal 2013”. | believe that this e-mall was sent by [N

S |

| read three e-malls datad July 30" 2013, betwsen Rich Morrow, Director of
Investor Relations and Corporate Devalopment, Yuan Ding, Chair of the Audit
Committee for Maglndustries, and Michael Gunns, Consultant for Magindustries
In Toronto regarding the anonymous message. Morrow wrote that this message
obviously raised a matter which merited further investigation and would like to
discuss it the following week when they would be in Congo. Ding repiled to
Morrow they would talk about this issue next week In Congo. On the same date,
Morrow also forwarded the Information to Michael Gunns, Consultant for
Magindustriss, regarding the anonymous complalnt.

f road two e-malls dated July 31*, 2013, between Michael Gunns, Consultant for
Magindustries in Toronto and Geoff Woo, CFO of Magindustries in Toronto.
Gunns sant an e-mail to Geoff Woo regarding the anonymous e-mail and that
this neaded to be investigated. Gunns wrote to Woo asking If he remembered
the presentation they attendsd af the Goodman law firm, as they emphasized
that investigations required to bs thorough and complete. On the same date,
Woo replied to Gunns that he would arrive In PN on August 4™

{i belleve that the acronym “PN" 1s Polnte Nolre.]

In his statement, [ESEEEN stated that Micheel Gunns, Consultant for
Maglndusiries came to the ROG In August 2013, At first, [ could not
recall if he met Gunns in July or August 2013. After analyzing events and
circumstances, [JHEEEEE confirmed that his meeting with Gunns took place after
his anonymous e-mail (after July 30*, 2013). [IEEEEEE and Gunns met at the
Atlantic Patace Hotel in the ROC. Initially, [N and Gunns discussed the
expropriation and the operallons of the previous year. Thenh, Gunns asked
R -vout any payment to Govemment Officials. JIIREEN dscided to tel
Gunns about the payment request made on May 2™, 2013, and that the amount
was above the 160,000 CFA [$301.20 CAD] limit as mentioned by Molse Kokolo
of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Gunns told him thet he had discussed the payment
previously with Kevin Stephens. Gunns also told [EiERE that he met with
Kokolo and Shoubing LI Finally, Gunns asked to see the documentation
regarding the payment. Gunns advised [N that he would write a report to
the Board of Directors to Inform them of the situatlon. They also spoke about the
CFPOA and Gunns did not feef It was a facllitation payment. [EERERECconfIrmad
that the purposa of Gunns' visit was for Intemal controt and to Inquire if any Illegal
payments ware made,

G

h Morrow and Geoff Woo travsl to the Republic of Con OAQ
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97)  In his statement, [ERERERE stated that:

{a) Geoff Woo fraveled to the ROC in order o altend the Board of Directors
meeting. After his meeling with Michasl Gunns, [ had a meeting with
Gooff Woo in the ROC which lasted about 20 to 30 minutes. During this
meeting, Woo toid [IEEEERE to attend Magindustries’ Toronto office for
fraining with respect to ah accounting software to be used in Toronto and in
the ROC. The training coincided with the end of R s vacation in
Canada; -

(b) Rich Morrow, Director of Development for Magindustrles in Toronto, also
fravelled to the ROC In August 2013,

i} bellevs that since Geoff Woo was In the ROC andeas acting as Chief
Flnanclal Officer for Magindustries of Toronto, he was aware of [
reporting the payment to Gunns.]

|
;lll

. Michael Gunng' ter: tlon b ustr

101) | read an e-mall and attachment dated September 3%, 2013, from Rich Morrow,
Director of Investor Relations and Corporate Development to Nardla Smith,
Human Resource for Magindustries in Teronto, | fearned that the attachment
was a notice of termination of Michast Gunns and the Gunns Group from the
consulting agresment with Magindusifies. The termination would be effective
thirty days from September 3™, 2013. 't thanked Gunns for fulfiling the terms of
his consulting mandate. \\p
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Discusslon about how to terminateJERIEIEEREIEEREREEE) ¢

102)

103)

104)

| read an e-mail sent on September 4%, 2013, at 12:45 hours, from Geoff Woo,
CFO of Maglndustries in Toronte, to Longbo Chen, CEQO of Magindustries,
discussing [ERERE condition and how to terminate his employment contract. The
e-mall was translated from Chinese to English by a cerlifled RCMP tranglator, |
lsamed that Geoff Woo proposed that orjEEEERE first day at work, he would be
Interviewed by Shoubing Li, his immediate supervisor to enquire If he is capable
of continuing to work and to make arrangement for new fasks. Shoubing Ui
would record/document his performance until November 18", IEEEENEEEEE

[l belleve that Geoff Woo developed a plan to fir<ERDIRRE

] read an e-mall sent on September 4%, 2013, at 13:37 hours, from Shoubing LI,
Finance Director for MagMinerals Potassas Congo SA to Geoff Woo regarding
I situation. The e-mall was translated from Chinese to English by a
certifled RCMP transfator. | learned that Shoubing LI thought that Geoff Woo's
plan was difficult for him to comply with. Shoubing Li stated that [ was ready
for distissal bacause he cannot do these jobs and he was not at all comfortable
to let him do them. Shoubing Li stated that S work In financlal aspect
cannot be qualiffed for the Job of Chlef Accountant. Shoubing Li stated that if the
company has declded to carry out the plan, he would try fo make arrangement
for B to do work which was not important and would not let him fesi
discriminated agalnst, -

[l believe that | »ecause of his former financlal title

mentloned In this paragraph.]

| read the minutes of a special meeting heid on September 5™, 2013 from 09:00
hours to 18:30 hours to addressed [N ERIREREEEEENEE ©Ming to work
in Pointe Noire and related issuss. The paricipants were Fuliang Wang, Deputy
General Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA, Aichun Dong, Advisor to
the Genera! Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA, and Shoubing LI,
Finance Director for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA. The document was
{ranslated from Chinese to English by a certified RCMP translafor. | learned that
a consensus had been reached and that if [EEEERcame to work In Pointe Nolre it
would cause the following refated issues and risks and for the time being, [N
must not be allocated to Polnte Nolre:
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(c) “Relationship with Michae! Gunns, there Is a big risk”. It stated the kR had
a strong radical mindset. “In view of the previous Incident of reporting, If
gonnacts with Michael Gunns who fust resigned from the job. If they act
{ogether, - is likely fo provide him a range of Information he considers &
problem duting Pointe Noire, then the Company will suffer Incalculably
damage or entanglament”,

[As explained earlier in this ITO, on September 39, 2013, Michael Gunns
recelved a notles of terimination of his contract, but based on the
Informatlon Included in this paragraph, It appears that Gunns has
resigned from his duties with Magindustries.]

— attends training and meetlngs in Toronto

106) In his statement, [EEER stated that:

(a) On September 11" and 12", 2013, he attended a two-day training sesslon In
Toronte for an accountlng software provided by René Rotermundt,
Accounting Supervisor. The main purpose of the training was to generate
financlal statements from the accounting system;

(b) On September 11", 2013, [EEE had 2 meeting with Geoff Woo. They
discussed [EEEEEEN crowth opportunities for his career and possible
promofton in Toronto;

(c) On September 12", 2013, just before INEREEER return flight to the ROC, he
had an unplanned meeting with Geoff Weo, Geoff Woo discussed changes
in the Finance Department. He offered || EEERE new employment In Toronto
as Senior Accourtant with a decreased salary and benefits, which EREEER
falt was a demotion. The employment offer was detalled In a document given
to E. EEEE -xpressod his dissatisfaction to Geoff Woo regarding
the position. N then traveled to the ROC.

108) | read an e-mall and an attachment sent on September 13", 2013, from Geoff
Woo, CFO of Magindustries in Toronto to Alchun Dong, Advisor to the General
Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA, Fuliang Wang, Deputy General
Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo 8A, Shoubing L1, Finance Director
for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA, copied to Nardla Smith, Human Resources
for Maglindustries, Rich Morrow, Director of Investor Relations and Corporate
Devalopment, and Chen Longho, CEC of Magindustries regarding a lermination
fetter In case EEEHE did not accopt thelr offer, Geoff Woo stated they had J/@ _
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107)

108)

109)

110)

suspended his access to his e-mail and accounting system and he should be
allowed supervised access o his work station only to clear out personal effects.
Also, he should only be permitted In to the MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA
office to recelve/sign the final offer or the termination letter.

B roturng fo the Republic of Congo

in his statement, | kRN stated that when he returned to the ROC, he attended
MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA's offlce and was not glven access to his
company computer and e-mail address. Fullang Wang, Deputy General
Manager went to sec Sl and told him to consult his personal e-malil
address account, as Maglndustries had sent him a revised employment offer.
When he checked his personal e-mail account, he read a second employment
offer with a $5,000 GAD increase In pay from the first offer [ ISR cxplained
that It was stilf $20,000 CAD less than hfs Chief Accountant position In the ROC.
As a result, ISR roviled to Geoff Woo that he Is declining the offer, bacause
It was for a lower posltlon and salary.

| read a memo dated September 16%, 2013, addressed to Fuliang Wang, Alchun
Dong and Shoubing Li and signed by Longbo Chen and Geoff Woo. The memo
was from Nardia Smith, Human Resources Speclalist for Magindustries In
Toronto. | leamned that it was to inforrn them of the restructuring of the finance
department. 1t stated that Shoubing Lt had been there for six months and he
managed the department wal! enough to eliminate the [RRRIRR Position.

| read an e-mail and two attachments sent on September 18%, 2013, from [
IR to Geoff Woo, copled to Nardia Smith. iR stated that:

{a) MAG's Senior Management and the Board of Directors of MaglIndustries were
aware of Shoubing Li, MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA's Finance Direclor,
breaking Congolese and Canadian Law by signing off and approving an
illegal cash payment of 5,000,000 XAF [$10,040 CAD] fo a Government
Official on May 2", 2013;

(b) He wondered why the company was not ellminating Shoubing LI's posltion,
since he was unqualified and had broken Canadian and Congolese law,

[According to the statement of [JJSIIREER he sald he never witnessed the
payment belng made and he also sald that his former supervisor
Shoubing Li s not 4 gualifted accountant.]

[The attachmants were the documents from the 6,000,000 CFA [$12,048
CAD] payments on May 2™, 2013 (APPENDICES A, B and C).)

Kevin Stephens discusses how fo organlze an amicable situation with -

| read an e-mall dated September 22", 2013, from Kevin Stephens, Risk
Manager for MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA fo Longbo Chen, CEO of
Magindustries oh how to organize an amicable situation witf = ! learned
that;

{2) Kevin Stephans belleved that the company handled the situation badiy by
removing EEemes) e-mailt service, physically denying himy access fo his
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{b) Stephens stated that- AT D R
R for the past two years had baen prlvy to some sensltlve and
confidential company information such as per diem paymenis made to cerlain
members of the Congolase Government, tax, other fiscal issues and financial
reporting/disclosure Issues;

(c) Staphens emphasizad that they needed to avold any possibility that RS
might release anything of a sensltive nature to the Congolese Government or
worse, the Canadian Government,

rminatlon of contr;

111) In his statement, SR indicated that he attended a Labor Depariment

hearing in the ROC regarding the abolition of his position. He toid the Labor
Department Board that he felt his position was abolished because he reporied an
llagal payment made by Magindustries to a [[EEIEEEIENIREE e received
notification that his position was abolished on Ootober 26", 2013. | read the
rolease signed by which was attached to an e-mall sent on November
14% 2013, from Parls Didjang to Nardia Smith, Human Resources Speclalist for
Magindustries in Toronto. The attachment was a letter signed by JEERER that

~ his contract with MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA was terminated as of Qctober

25™ 2013. [ also read the releass of | termination of employment from
Magindustries signed by [l which was attached to an email sent on
November 20™, 2013, from R to Nardia Smith, | read an e-mall sent on
November 20%, 2013, from Longbo Chen to Nardia Smith, Geoff Woo, CFO of
Maglndustries in Taronto and Rich Morrow, Director of Investor Relations and
Corporate Development for Magindustries in Toronto which stated that they stil
needed {0 pay attention to his () further actions.

PART_2: EUCALYPTUS FIBRE CONGO - THE BLACK MONEY
PAYMENTS, PARAGRAPHS 112to 142

112)

113)

As stated in the overview of this 1TO, while reviewing documents selzed at
Radiant Communlcations, Investigators became aware of payments made by
Eucalyptus Fibre Congo, another subsidiary of Magindustries.  Having
reasonable grounds to belleve these paymenis were bribes to Foreign Public
Offlcials, | obtalned a search warrant to search the data seized at Radiant
Communications for additlonal information regarding these payments,

On July 23", 2014, | swore. an ITO before Beverly Souliere, a Juslice of the
Poace in the Province of Ontaric and a search warrant was authorized pursuant
to section 487, an assistance order pursuant to 487.02 and a seallng order
pursuant fo section 487.3 of the Criminaf Code. A copy of this warrant is
attachad to this ITQ as APPENDIX D. | obtained a search warrant to search for:

{a} Any e-mails or electronic communications, including sent, unsent and delsted
communlcations and thelr assoclated attachments. belonging to
Magindustrles, related to “black money” payments made by Eucalyptus Fibre

Congo;
Y

Page | 35




{b) Any e-malls or electronic communications, including sent, unsent and deleted
communications and their assoclated attachments belonging to
Maglindusttes, related to Ernst & Young;

{c) BUT NOT INCLUDING any e-malls or electronic communications, including

sant, unsent and dsletad communications and their assoclated attachments

_ belonging to Maglndustrias, that has been previously or will be identified as
potantially privileged,

Michael Gunns' observations after his visit to the Republlc of Congo In December
2012

114) 1 read an e-mail and attachment sent on December 121", 2012, from Michael
Gunns, Consultant for Magindustries In Toronto to Will Burton, Former CFO for
Maglndustries in Teronto, describing Michael Gunns’ observations during his visit
to the ROC in December 2012, | lparned that Michael Gunns wrote “/ was
concernad in my initlal discussions {(hefore you arrived) with Feng, Albert and
Hank. They seemed so overwhelmed by day-to-day issues that | thought they
wouldn't be that interested. Howevar, | felt we reached a lof of consensus and
resonance with some practical pain they are fesling - where they either don't
know what fo do, or feel they are being manipulatad by their own people (e.g. per
diems to officlels, EFC local trolka). Feng's comment during the first discussion |
had with them was: ‘we havs to fix conduct issues, or we'll hit a brick wall' *,

[l belleva Feng Is Huang Feng, CEOQ of Eucalyptus Fibra Congo and that
Hank Is Cheng Han Yeh, Deputy Genaral Manager of Eucalyptus Fibre
Congo.]

[l belisva that “per dlems fo offlclals” are payments to Government
Officlals and that Senior Officers of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo discussed
thess payments with Michael Gunns during his visit. I also belleve that the
Toronto offlce of Magindustries was aware of the exlstence of such
payments as this e-mall was sent on December 12!, 2012, At that time, Wil
Burton, Former CFO, was based at the Toronto office of Magindustries.)

Ernst & Young 2012 audlt — Isgues of unsupported documeants

116) | read an e-mall and attachment sent on March 15%, 2013, from
michel.bakala@cg.ey.com, Mahager Assurance, Emst & Young (EY) Congo
Brazzaville, to yong.cao@maglindusiries.com, Finance Director of Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo, and copled fo victor.ketevi@cg.ey.com, Audit Manager at EY in
Congo, The attachment is an updated version of “Key Accounting and audiling
issties” by EY and | learned that EY discovered payments that ware not properly
supported. Below is a reproduced table from the attachment of five payments not
properly supported: J_@

Number Datg Journal | N°Piéce | Descripticn Amount Comments

1 30/11/2012 1  CAl 3275 FRS DIVERS | 30000000 | No supporting
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Number Date

Journal

N°Pidce

Description

Amount

Commentis

DG {pénalitd)

document We are
not abie {0
appreciate If the
payment has
been made for a
notmal course of
the company
busingss

2 1810712012

CAl

2108

TRANSPGRT
TERRE
JAUNE

7 000 000

o supporting
dosument We are
notabledo
appraciale if the
payment has
been made for a
normal course of
the company
buginhess

3 261122012

CAl

3460

FRS DIVERS
HE WENLAN

5 000 Q00

No supporting
document We are
rot able to
appreciate if the
payment has
bean made for a
normal course of
the company
business

4 24/07/2012

CAl

2162

TRANSPORT
TERRE
JAUNE

3000000

No supporiing
documeant We are
not abla to
appraciate If the
payment has
bsean made for a
normal course of
the company
busglhess

] 04/07/2012

CAl

1968

EVALUATa
SVT Ng
001260

IMBOUNCU

2000000

No supporting
document We are
not able to
appreciale If the
payment has
bean made for a
normal course of
the company
business

47 000 600

[i belleve that the amounts mentlonad above are In CFA Franc currency.}

1 belleve that an error occurred and the total amount should read 47,000,000

[$94,000 CAD].]

Loondeo Bekah seeks halp from Yong Cao to reconclle pavments

118) 1 tead an e-mail dated March 19", 2013, at 08:16 hours from Loondeo Bekah,

Assistant Controller In Toronto, to Yong Cao, Finance Director of Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo copled to Feng Huang, Chief Exacutive Officar of Eucalyptus Fibre
Congo, Geoff Woo, Financlal Controller for Magindustries in Toronto and Will
Burton, Former CFO of Magindustries in Toronte regarding the Eucalyptus Fibre
Congo audit Issues. | learned that Loondeo Bekah requested Yong Cao's help fo
reconcile five amounts on the *key accounfing and auditing lssues”. Loondeo |,
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147)

Bekah wrote that the back-ups that Carl provided had different arounts and
there ware only three.

[l baliave the flve payments that Loondeo Bekah was trying to reconcile are
the same payments descrlbad In the table of the previous paragraph.]

f read an e-mall dated March 10, 2013, at 09:42 hours from Loondeo Bekah to
Yong Cao, copled to Will Burton and Feng Huang concerning the Eucalyplus
Fibre Congo audlt issues. | leamed that Loondeo Bekah requested Yong Cao's
phone number as the matter was very urgent and needed to sort it out. | read
the reply on the same date at 12:20 hours by Yong Cao to Loondeo Bekah and |
learned that Yong Cao provided his telephone number.

Will Burton requests an update regarding the flve unsupported payments

118)

Yon

| read an e-mail sent on March 19%, 2013 from William Burlon, Former CFO of
Magindustries hased in Toronto, to Frank Phan, Manager, Assurance Sefvices at
EY in Toronto. |learned that Wil Burton sought an update concemlng wherg EY
stood with the audlt, He wiote that regarding the “nfamous 5 unsupporied
payments” at Eucalyptus Flbre Congo, “we have goften the support from our
people, but they have lo reconcile it and give it to the Congo auditors”. Wil
Burton stated that one of the paymants for 30 million CFA [$80,000 CAD] relatéd
to an under the fable payment to the tax authoritles.

o describes the five (mone ayments

119) 1 read an e-mall dated March 20" 2013, from Yong Cao, Finance Director of

Eucalyptus Flbre Congo, fo Loondeo Bekah, Assistant CGontroller for
Maglndustries In Toronto and victor.ketevi@cg.ey.com, Audit Manager at EY in
Congo copled to Feng Huang, CECG of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo. Yong Cao
described what he referred to as the bank payments without supporting
documents as follows:

(a) 30,000,000 Fofa [$60,000 CAD] {"black money”, no suppoting documents) +
35,727,324 Fofa [$71,454.66 CAD] {“white money”, supporling documents
attached);

{b) 7,000,000 {$14,000 CAD] Fcfa ("black money®, no supporting documents)
+13,052,700 Fcfa {$26,105.40 CAD] (*white money", supporting documents
attachad);

{c} 5,000,000 Fefa [$10,000 CAD] ("black money", no supporling documents)
42,506,658 Fcofa {$5,013.12 CAD] {"white money®, supporiing documents
attached);

(d) 3,000,000 Fefa [$6,000 CAD] ("black money”, no supporiing documents} + 0
Fcfa ("white monay”, supporiing documents attached);

{e) 2,000,080 Fcfa [$4,000 CAD] ("white money”, for land rental, attached).

[f believe that tha flve payments described In this paragraph are the sams
as thosa mentioned in the table of paragraph 1158.] ‘X:)
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Victor Keleyi mentions black money payments

120)

| read an e-mail dated March 20th, 2013, from Victor Ketevl, Audit Manager at
EY in Congo to Yong Cao, Finance Director of Eugcalyptus Flbre Congo copisd to
Feng Huang, CEO of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo, Loondeo Bekah, Assisfant

Controller for Maglindustiies in Toronte, Wil Burton, Former CFO of

Maglndustries In Toronto, Geoff Woo and Ashraf.Zinsldin@ca.ey.com, Partner in
Assurance Services at EY In Toronto regarding the "black money” payments. |
leamned that Victor Ketevl wrote to Yong that the "blaxk” money coufd not be
consldered as "made for business purpose”. Victor Ketevl stated that they had to
expense around “XAF 35 million® [$70,000 CAD). Also, the *black money” pald
would be Included In thelr representation letler.

[As it will be describad later in this ITO, a representation letter is usually
obtained by the auditor at the and of the audit. On July 10", 2014, 1 spoke to
Patricla Qdlerna, Senlor Forensic Accountant, and | learned that it is a
common practice for the auditors to prepare ithe format of the ietter-and to
send I to the cllent, but the content of the lefter remains the management's
responsibllity.]

[Patricla Odlerna Is a Chartered Professlonal Accountant, Charterad
Accountant (CPA, CA), Chartered Business Valuator (CBV) with a Certified
in Financial Ferensics {CFF) credentlal from the American Institute of CPAs
working with Public Works Government Services Canada (PWGC).]

Yictor Ketevi seoks signature on the Leftey of Representation for Eucalyptus

Elbre Congo
121} 1 read an e-mali and attachment sent on March 22™ 2013, from Victor Ketevl,

Audit Manager at EY in Congo to Loondeo Bekah, Assistant Controller for
Magindustries In Teronto copied fo Yong Cao, Finance Director of Eucalyptus
Fitre Conge and Fang Huang, CEQ of Eucalyptus Flbre Congo. | learned that
Victor Kefevi advised that the audit procedures for fiscal year 2012 were
completed. Victor Ketevi requested that the representation letter attached to his
a-mall be signed by Eucalyptus Fibre Congo management and returned to him.

Lottor of Representation signad by Feng Huang and Burton

122)

| read an attachment sent from Michasel Gunns, Consultant for Magindustries In
Toronto to himself, copled to Rich Morrow, Director of investor Relations and
Corporate Development which is a Lefter of Representation signed by Feng
Huang (Eucalyptus Fibre Congo CEQ) and Wil Burlen (Magindustries CFO)
dated March 21, 2013,

(a) | read an appandix to the Letter of Representation in refation fo the reporting
flnancial statements as of December 31%, 2012, and | learned that a list of
transactions without supporling transactions was enumerated. Below Is a
reproduced table from the attachment of the five transactions listed as

"payments not properly supported":sﬁ .
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{iIn March 2013, as per the Letter of Representation, elght payments
were first idontified as unsupported. Later, It was determined that three
cash payments were later supported with proper documentation.)

1

Number Data Journal | N°Pidce | Description Amount Comments
30/11/2012 CAl 3275 FRS DIVERS | 30 000 000 | This bfack monay
DG {pénalité) for tax audit
notification

2 18/07/2012 1 CAl 2108 TRANSPORT | 7 000 Q00 | This black money
TERRE JAUNE for personal
income tax
notification
3 261272012 CAl 3460 FRS DIVERS | 5000000 | This black money
HE WENLAN for soclal
insurance
notification
4 24/07/2012 1  CAl 2462 TRANSPORT | 3000000 | This black money
TERRE JAUNE for consumption,
compefition and
fraud services
§ 04/07/2012 ( CAl 1968 EVALUATp 2 060 000

SVT Ne 001260
IMBOUNOU

47 000 600

[l bellove that the amounts mentloned above are In CFA Franc currency.]

[l belleve that an error occurred and the total amount should read 47,000,000
[$94,000 CAD].)

Reslanation of Willlam €. Burton — Diractor of Eucalyptus Fibre Corfio

123)

| read a Director's resignation letter with immediate effect dated March 22",
2013, from Willlam C. Burton to Eucalyplus Flbre Congo. This lefler was
executed and dellvered as a deed In the presence of the wiiness and signed by
Michas! Gunns, Chartered Accountani (FCA). :

¥
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124) | read an e-mail and attachment sent on March 24®, 2013, from Ashraf Zineldin,
Canadian partner of EY in Toronto to Wil Burton. The attachment was an audit
report from EY prosenting the results of its audit of the 2012 consolidated
financial statements of Maglndustries. | learned the following from the audit
raport:

{a) Magindustrles had significant deficlencles in Infernal control over financial
reporting In the ROC. It was noted that some of the reporting operations were
not operating as deslgned; specifically, In retation to the supporiing
documeantation for entry payments, It also stated that the amounts involved
waro not materlal and that It could result in fraudulent acts. It also mentioned
that the overriding of controls In the ROC aperations represented a signiflcant
deficiency and required corrective actions to be taken by the managemsnt;

{b) There Is a table tifled "Summary of audit differences” which described the
differences between the amounts recorded by Eucalyptus Fibre Congo and
the amounts EY believed should be recorded or reported. The tablo is
divided Into two sections. The first one |s referred fo as corrected
misstatements and the second one as uncorrected misstatements made by
Eucalyptus Fibre Congo.

[I accessed the CPA Canada Handbook ~ Assurance, glossary of terms
webslte at hitp://www.knotla.catknowledge/Home.aspx?productid=126 and 1
learnad that the tarm mlsstatemant Is "a difference betweeon the amount,
clagsification, presentation, or disclosure of & reported financlal
statement item and the amount, classification, presentation, or
disciosure that Is required for the item fo be In accordance with the
appiicable financlal reporting framework. Misstatements can arise from
srror or fraud” ]

[On July 7" 2014, | discussed the term fraud with Patricla Qdlerna,
Sanior Forenslc Accountant and she provided a definitlon of fraud from
the CPA Canada Handbook — Assurance, glossary of terins, | learned
that the term fraud Is “an intentlonal act by one or more Individuals
among management, those charged with governance, employees, or
third partles, involving the use of deception fo obtaln an unjust or lllegal
advantage”)]

[l belisve that the company did not correct all misstatements found by
auditors,]

{c) In the appendix of the repart, it was mentioned that EY was not aware of any
fraud or illegal acts Involving senior management or fraud or llegal acts that
caused a material misstatement of the financial statements.

[On October 24", 2014, | spoke to Patricla Qdierna, Senlor Forensle
Accountant, and | fearned that when auditors discover misstatements,
they may evaluate the value of the misstatement and thelr Impact on the
financial statement, based on thelr professional judgment.]

Conferance call — Review of the audit findings

125) | read an e-mall and attachment sent on March 26", 2013, of the minutes of a
conference call that took place on the same day at 10:00 hours betwesn Yuan
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Ding as Chalrman of MagIndustries' Audit Committee, Ashraf Zineldin as E&Y
Audlt Partner and Rich Morrow as Secrstary of the meeting. | lsarned that Yuan
Ding had recelved the package and reviewed all documents that had been sent
out. Ashraf Zineldin noted E&Y's general satisfaction with Mag's financlal
accounting systems and Internal confrols but noted audlt findings In the
MagMinerals Potasses CGongo SA office In Polnte Noire, which required further
management attentlon. Audifors detected payments to employeas without
supporting documents. These payments were advanced to employess and were
Included in other raecelvables. Yuan Ding would share the Information to the
Board and request 4 plan from the Management 10 rectlfy these issues.

[t helieve that the acranym "AC” Is Audit Commlttes, since Ashraf Zineldin
Is refarring to the Audit Committee Package.)

[l further belleve that Ashraf Zlnéldtn meant Eucalyptus Flbre Congo office
and not MagMinorals Potasses Congo SA. Michae! Gunns later clarified this
In an a-mail dated May 9th, 2013.]

[l belisve that whan Individuals use E&Y In an e-malil Included in this ITO,
they are referring to Ernst &Youing.]

Michael Gunns' concern with the code of conduct

126) 1| read an e-mall dated March 28th, 2013, from Michael Gunns, Consultant for

Maglindustries In Toronto to Rich Morrow, Director of investor Relations and
Corporate Development and [ learned that he listed several items to discuss with
Rich Morrow before Rich Morrow meets with Mr, Chan, Gunns emphasized the
code of conduct. The code of conduct was a significant focus for the trip that he
{Michael Gunns) made with Will to the ROC in December 2012. Michae! Gunns
mentlonad the implementation of the whistle-blower program was a “long suit’
and it was declded that he would start preparing suitable locat codes when the
year-end financlals had been completed. Gunns would also prepare examples to
gulde tricky declslons. Since It was a deap concern for the leaders of Eucalyptus
Fibre Conge and MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA, WIll was to craft examples
around the use of facilitation payments.

[l beileve that Mr. Chen is Longbo Chen, CEO of Magindusiries.]

[Facllitation payment Is a term used in the CFPOA to describe legal
payments under the Act. 1 belleve that Eucalyptus Flbre Congo and
MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA were facing 1ssues regarding payment to
Govarnment Officlals as detailed in paragraph 114 and that the Former CFO
of Magindustries, Will Burton was to prepare examples around facilltation
payments to gulde management of Maglndustries subsidiaries in the ROC.]

[l believe that Will is Will Burton, bacause Michae! Gunns and Will Burton
travelled to the ROC in December 2012, Refer to the paragraph 114 in this

ITO.] \)_B

Page | 42




Michael Gunns requests Geoff Woo to review items with Yong Cag, Financial
Director of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo

127) | read an e-mall dated April 18", 2013, from Michael Gunns, Consultant for
Maglindustries in Toronto to Geoff Woo, CFQ of Magindustdes, copted to Rich
Morrow, Director of Investor Relatlons and Corporate Development in Toronto
regarding the Eucalyptus Flbre Congo payments. | lsamed that Gunns wrote
that the way the ltems raised by the Toronto EY partner with the Chalr of the
Audit Committea wera not described correctly as they were flrst described as
relating to MagMinerals Potasses Congo SA and the explanation was something
like “payments were advanced fo employees and were included in other
recalvables”. Gunns discussed these matters In general terms with the Chalr of
the Audit Committee who wantaed a full description for distribution to the Board
and for subsequent discussion between the Board and Management. Gunns
asked Geoff Woo to discuss the items with Cac and to contact him by e-mall
after, in order to have another telephona discusslon. Gunns stated that it may
turn out that thare was nothing to be concerned about regarding the nature of the
payments.

goff W firm Michael Gunns that the ¢ Eucal g Fibre Con

blagk money pavments

128) | read an e-mail dated April 25", 2013, from Geoff Woo, CFO of Magindustries in
Toronto, to Michasl Gunns, Consultant for Magindustries in Toronto. | learned
that Woo had a maeting that day with Feng Huang, CEQ of Eucalyptus Fibre
Conge and Yong Cao, Financlal Director of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo. Woo stated
that Eucalyptus Fibre Congo had ‘its shorfcomings in personal income fax in
accordance with Congo fax regulafions”. Eucalypfus Fibre Cango "paid the hlack
money In exchange for cost-efficlency”. Geoff Woo also mentioned that a
detalled reperi was being drafted by Eucalyptus Fibre Congo which would be
sent fo Gunns.

Eucalyptus Fibre Congo black money report

128) | read four e-malls betwesn Michae! Gunns, Consultant for Magindustries, and
Geoff Woo, CFO of Magindustries In Foronto, as wall as an e-mall from Gunns to
Yue Ma, Corporate Development Assoclate for Maglindusiries in Toronto, The s-
malls are summarized as follows. On April 25%, 2013, Gunns asked If the Initial
draft rgport could only be sent t¢ him, Geoff Woo replied that that ha would send
the report to Mr. Chen and to Gunns after lils review. Woo sald that he did not
want to send it directly to Dr. Ding as Gunns might be the most appropriate
person to facilitate. On May 7%, 2013, Gunns wondered If there was any more
news with respect to the report, Woo replied that he just got it in the morning.
Woo wanted to modify the English varsion for him (Gunns), but dus to the
urgency, he sent the report to Gunns and he {Gunns) may ask for Yue's
assistance if the English translation was unclear. On the same date, Gunns sent
an e-mall to Yue Ma, Comorate Development Assoclate for Magindustries In
Toronto. Gunns requested her aseistance to translate the Chinese spreadshee@
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and fo return i fo him. Gunns stated that it was important that the translation
was fairly accurate and complete.

[l believe that Michael Gunns referred to the draft report dlacussed in this
paragraph about the “black money"” payments.]

{I believe that Dr. Ding is Yuan Ding and Mr. Chen Is Longhbo Ghen, both
membaers of the Board of Directors of Magindustries.]

130) 1 read an e-mail and attachment fitled "EFC tax [ssue 20130508 (CH+EN).xIsx"
(APPENDIX E) sent on May 8", 2013, from Yue Ma, Magindustrles based in
Taronto, to Michael Gunns, which summarized as follows:

(a) For the year 2012, the total amount that should have bean imposed to
Eucalyptus Flbre Congo for the taxable staff benefit itetns was 63,967,318
CFA [$127,934.64 CAD]. In reality, a total amount of 17 million CFA [$34,000
CAD] was pald; 6 millon ($12,000 CAD] was paid under the table and 11
million {$22,000 CAD] was paid above board, resulting in savings of 46 militon
CFA [$92,000 CAD];

(b) It describad the ways to wash “black money” as follows:

(i) Finance Department should have two sets of books, ane for government
ingpection and one for intermal use, Main finance and HR positions must
be occupied by Chinese employees;

{li Have a third party pay the under the-tabie amount, The third party then
bills a consulting fee to Eucalyptus Fibre Congo;

(I} Evergreen sets up a consulting company in Ponit-Noire fo proceed with
such transactions. '

[l belleva that “Ponit-Noire” is a typographlcal error and should read
Polnte Noire.}

[| believe that payments ahove board are payments to the
government and “under the table” or "black money” payments are
made to Congolese Governmant Offlclals. | also believe that since
taxes ara normally handled by a country, only Puhlic Officials would
have the authorlty to settle an amount owed te the government.]

[l belleve that by having Evargreen create a consulting company In
Polnte Nolre to pay the “black money”, Magindustries officlals were
trylng to distance themselves and the company from these
payments.]

Yong Cao comments on the 6 Milllon CFA black money pavmen

131) | read an e-mail dated May g® 2013, from Yong Cao, Flnance Diractor of
Eucalyptus Flbre Congo, to Geoff Woo, CFO of Magindustries In Toronto, and
Fang Huang, CEO of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo, copled to Chen Longbo, CEO of
Maglndustries, Michael Gunns, Consultant for Magindustries in Toronto, and
Rich Morrow, Director of investor Refafions and Corporate Development for
Maglndustrdes In Toronto, regarding the Eucalyptus Fibre Congo report. Yong
Cao mentioned that the attached with the yeflow marks signffied the “black
money” that was pald in the year 2012 but the taxable period belonged to the
years from 2008 to 2011. Yong Cao stated that his report submittad on Tuesday
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of that week belonged fo the year 2012, but it was actually paid In the year 2013,
in the 1% quarter fotal with the 8M CFA [$12,000 CAD] "black money” and 11M
CFA [$22,000 CAD] "white monay”.

[l belleve that the report referred to by Yong Cao !s the report titled "EFC
tax issue 20130806 (CH+EN}.xisx” explainad In the previous paragraph. |
further hellave that the 6M CFA [$12,000 CAD] payment paid In the 1" QTR
of the year 2013 was not identifled during the EY 2012 audlt.]

Michaal Gunns’ follow-up on Yong Cao's report

132) | read an e-mail dated May 9%, 2013, from Michasl Gunns, Consultant for

Maglindustries to Yong Cao, Finance Director of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo, copled
to Chen Longbo, CEOQ of Maglindustries, Rich Morrow, Director of Investor
Relatlons and Corporate Development, Geoff Woo, CFO of Magindustries and
Feng Huang, CEQ of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo concerning the Eucalyptus Fibre
Congo report, which Is summarized as follows:

{(a) Michael Gunns wrote that Yong Cac's report addressed FCFA 6 milllon -
{$12,000 CAD] out of at least FCFA 47 million [$94,000 CAD} described in the
E&Y letter and that it did nof relate to any specific items listed by E&Y;

(b} in light of the wording "black money” in the lefter, Michael Gunns and Rich
Morrow decidad to advise Dr. Ding about the nature of the fransactions and
how they ware described by E&Y Congo;

(c) Michael Gunns mantioned that Dr. Ding understands that business practices
in the Congo differ fram those in other parts of the world with the ROC
ranking very low on the World Transparency Index. As a Canadlan public
company, MAG is under regulatory scrutiny and this matter of settling claims
may be typical focally but Its continuation was putling MAG at & very serious
risk;

[t balleve the World Transparancy Index 1s a corruption index calculated
by fransparency international.]

(d) Dr. Ding asked that a full description of the paymants and the clicumstances
‘be sent to him for discusslon with tha Board. Dr. Ding made it ¢lear that this
documant should speak plainly to the matters, so that the Board may make
Informed declsions;

(e} Michael Gunns visited Eucalyptus Fibre Congo in December 2012 and sald
that Feng Huang was distressed over these business practices. Michael
Gunns was also aware that these matters ocourred before Yong Cao jolned
Eucalyptus Fibre Congo;

[Algo, as described in paragraph 114 (where Michael Gunns and Will
Burton want to the ROC), | balleve that Feng Huang was distressed over
business practice such as per dlems to Government Officials.]

() Michael Gunns wrote they were feft with no choice but to fully explain all the

items Hsted by E&Y.
& . " Page |45




133) | read an e-mail dated May 8™, 2013, from Michael Gunns to Rich Morrow. |

134)

135)

136)

learnad that:

{8} Michael Gunns requested permlasion from Rlch Morrow to send Dr. Bing the
a-mall he Just sant to Cae Yong {Carl). Michael Gunns mentioned that due to
Carl copying In Chen and Becky, this lssue was getting a much higher profile;

{b) Michae! Gunns also mentioned writihg a “white paper” to explsin why
corruption and safety are in the top of the minds of Canadians. Later, Gunns
refarred to SNC-Lavalin and the corrupt payments.

[l believe that Michael Gunns was referring to the a-mail mentioned In
the previous paragraph because hoth e-malls were sent on the same
day.]

| read an e-mall dated May 10™, 2013, from Yong Cao to Michasl Gunns, coplad
to Chen Longbo, Rich Morrow, Geoff Woo and Feng Huang. Yong Cao cfarified
that the FCFA 6 million [$12,000 CAD] was peld in a different taxable period.
The letter by E&Y listed the perlod belongs before the year 2012. It should have
bean pald bofore the year 2012 for the taxable ltems as per the local tax ruls,
sxcept for one “black money’ payment of 3M CFA [$6,000 CAD] pald to the
"commerce administration department”.

! read an e-mail dated May 10™, 2013, from Michaset Gunns to Yong Cao, copled
to Chen Longbo, Rich Morsrow, Director of Investor Relations and Corporate
Revelopment in Toronto, Geoff Woo, CFQ of Maglndustries in Toronto and Feng
Huang. Gunns askad about the Item tolaling 45 million FCFA [$80,000 CAD],
peraining to the "black money’ route. Gunns asked Yong Cao ff he had any
astimate of the full amounts If it had not gone Into the “black money” route.

Michasl Gunnes informs Yuan Ding about the guestlonable payments made by
Eucalgp_lu; Fibre Congo In 2012

i read an e-mall and attachment sent on May 10", 2013, from Michael Gunns,
Consultant for Maglndustries to Yuan Ding, Chalr of the Audit Committae for
Maglndustries, copied to Rich Morrow, Director of Investor Relations and
Corporate Development regarding the Eucalyptus unsupported payments made
in 2012. | lsarned that:

{m) Thelr enquitiles continued concerning the questionable payments made by
Eucalyptus Flbre Congo in 2012, Michasl Gunns wrote that Rich Morrow
would ba mesfing with Simon and his intentions wers to raisa the whole
jssue;

[l beliave that Simon Is Xlaolsl (Simon) Llang, Chalrman of the Board of
Directors for Magindustries.]

{b) Michael Gunns wrote that another payment was made In 2013 concerning &'

tax audit of payroll deductions of FCFA 63,967,318 [$127,934.64 CAD]. He
statad that “through under table deal, we finally paid lofal 17 million FCFA
(black money & miilion FGFA and white money 11 milllon FCFA), fotal cost
saving 46 milllon FCFA", lﬂ '

Page | 46




Yongp Cao describes black money payments and 5eneﬂt for the company

137) | read an e-mall dated May 11" 2013, from Yong Cao, Finance Director of
Eucalyptus Flbre Congo to Michasl Gunns, Consultant for Magindustres In
Toronte, copled to Chen Longbo, CEQ of Maglndustries, Rich Morrow, Director
of Investar Relations and Carporate Development in Toronto, Geoff Woo, CFO of
Magindustries in Toronte, and Feng Huang, CEO of Eucalypius Fibre Congo to
clarify Gunns' questions about the "black money” payments. Yong Cao revealed
that apart from the fems using “black money” solutlon, no other payment
oceurred in 2012 except for payments made o police for vehicle and traffic
problems but not blg amounts and it was popular locally. Yong Cao clarfied tha

" fotal of the 456M CFA [$90,000 CAD] “biack money" as follows:

{a) For the tax Inspection of year 2008-2010, Eucalyptus Flbre Congo pald 30M
CFA [$60,000 CAD} of *black money” and approximately 36M CFA [$72,000
CAD] to government. Eucalypius Flbre Congo should have patd an amount
of 148M CFA {$208,000 CAD];

{b) For the tax inspection of year 2011, Eucalyptus Flbre Congo pald 7M CFA
[$14,000 CAD] of “black money” and 13M CFA [$26,000 CAD] to govemment.
Eucalyptus Fibre Congo should have psaid an amount around 180M CFA
[$360,000 CADY; :

(¢) For the social secure inspection of yaar 2011, Eucalyptus Fibre Congo paid
M CFA [$10,000 CAD] of “black money” and 2,5M CFA [$5,000 CAD] to
government. Eucalyptus Fibre Congo shouid have paid an amount around
50M CFA [100,000 CAD,

{d) For the Inspaction from commerce administration bureau for business
documents Integrity checking, Eucalyptus Fibre Congo paid 3M GFA [$6,000
CAD] of "black money”. Eucalyptus Fibre Congo should have pald an amount
around 30M CFA [60,000 CAD].

[i belleve based on fhe amounts and the sequence of the e:malls
described in this ITO that the above payments are four of the payments
identified in the EY audit report and that “white money” payments as
referred previously In this iTO are payments made leglitimately to the
governmant.]

Michael Gunns seeks_an updafe on the Eucalyptus Fibra Congo black money
paymsnis

138) 1 read an e-mall dated August 8", 2013, from Michael Gunns, Consultant for
Maglndustres to Yong Cao, Finance Director of Eucalyptus Fibre congo, copied
to Feng Huang, CEC of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo, Chen Longbo, CEQ of
Mag!ndustiiss, and Geoff Woo, CFO of Magindustries in Toronte, requesting an
urgent update regarding the Eucalyptus Flbre Congo “black money” payments,
Michael Gunns wrote that the Board of Dlrectors and the Audit Commilties would
he meeting on Saturday in PNR. The Chalr of the Audlt Committae would fkely
ask for an update on the typs of payments mentioned above and asked if any
other black payments were made since. Michael Gunns mentioned that Yong
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Cao told him about one payment In the report for the year 2013 for an amount of
6M CFA 312,000 CAD] of "biack money” and 11M CFA [$22,000 CAD] of "white
money” evan though the period belonged to the year 2012,

[l belleve that the 6 mlition CFA [$12,000 CAD] “black money” payment for
the year 2013 Is the same as the one described in this ITO by Yong Cao on
May 8%, 2013.]

Il accessed the airline and airpert code search webslie at
www.lata.org/publications/Pages/code-search.aspx and | learned that the
acronym "PNR” signifies Pointe Nolre. PRN Is the three letter city code
lalrport code for Polnte Nolre alrport.]

Magindustries 2013 Audit Plan

139) | read an e-mall and attachment sent on November 7%, 2013, which contained

Maglindusiries’ Corporate 2013 Audit Plan with a letter dated November 12",
2013, by Ashraf Zinsldin, Canadian Pariher at EY in Toronto. | learmed that EY
conducted a full scope audit on the following locations for the year 2012 and
2013:

{a) MagIndustries Corporate in Canada;
{b) MagMinerals Potasses in Congo;

{c} Eucalyptus Fibre Congo in Congo,

[As will be described fater In this ITO, a full scope audit requires that the
audltor selact a larger sample for its audlt testing, which means a higher
percentage of the amount and disclosure to verify.]

Forenslc Accounting Management Group - Patricla Odlerna

140) On June 20", 2014, | met with Patricta Odierna, Senlor Forensle Accountant, to

discuss this investigation, how an audlt Is usually conducted, and to obtaln an
explanation of certaln documents prepared byffor EY. | learned that:

{(a) Magindustries Is a publicly traded company and it is required to produce
annually audited financial statements. Usually, during the audit, the auditor
will not obtaln audit evidence for every amount in disclosure; typically, a
sample is selecied by the audltor based on Its assessment of sk and its
determination of materiality, Usually, a full scope audit entalls that the auditor
selact a larger sample for its audit testing, meaning a higher percentage of
the amount and disclosure {o verify;

{b) If during the audit, the audlfor (EY) finds a misstatement, it will usually be
reported in the summary of mlsstatemenis. If such a misstatement Is
determinad to be material by the auditor, the company will be asked to correct
it. Whean misstatements are found, the auditor may glso decide to increase
the samplse selaction for the audit testing. X}Q
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Compilation of the blagk money payments and the financial advantage for
Eugalyptus Fibre Congo

141} 1read a report dated June 30%, 2014, prepared by Patricla Qdierna, Based on
the evidence gathered [n this investigation and providad to her, Palricla Odisrna
prepared a report regarding the financtal advantage for Eucalyptus Flbre Congo
as a result of the “black money® payments made, presumably to Congolese
public officlals. Below Is a table copled fram her report,
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[l belleve that 51 mllilon CFA [$102,000,000 CAD] Is the comblnatlon of the four
“black money” payments included In the Letter of Representation totallng 45
milllon CFA pius the “black money” paymant of 8 million CFA [$12,000 CAD]
Identlfled In an a-mall by Yong Cao.}

[l spoke fo Pafricia Odlierna, and ! learned that she did not mention the financial
advantage for the 8 milllon CFA [$12,000 CAD] payment above in Schedule 1.2 as
It was not included In the e-mail titled “Follow up on EFC payments-urgent.pdf”.
The advantage for that specific payment is described below in Schedule 4.4, and
was calculated from the e-mail titled “Discusslon with Cao-short translate.pdf”.]

[l belleve that the & mlilion CFA [$12,000 CAD] in Schedules 1.2 and 1.4 Is the
same “black money” payment. In total, five “black money” payments were found
totallng 51 mlllion CFA [$102,000,000 CAD].] l@ .
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{a) The report states that ‘the financial advantage for EFC of paying the afleged
bribes was defermined by calculating the difference between the amounts
that should have been paid by EFC fo the government and the amounts
aciually pald”. Below Is Table 2, which conslsts of the calculations by adding
the amounts outlined by transaction in schedule 1.2 and 1.4. “The {folal
financial advantage fo Eucalypius Fibre Congo by paying the alleged bribes
based on the calculations presented In Table 2 could amount to 368.56M CFA
{or $716,935 CAD)".

[Baged on the evidence gathered to cate respscting the “hlack money"
payments macde by Eucalyptus Fibre Congo, a subsidlary of
Magindustries galned a financial advantage by evading taxes as
outlined In Patricla Qdierna’s report, Although the reciplent(s) of the
“black money” ls/are unknown, one can Infer that thls person was a
publlc officlal In the ROC, or someone acting on behaif of a public
officlal sinca the administration of tax collection is a government

functlon In the ROC.)

Yable 2: Suramary of total flnanclal advantage to EFC of alleged “black money™ transactions per source documants

 'Hamo.of séurés documents Tolal Mhenciat advaniage to BEC  Roforonces  Soufes doduments’

CFA Franc GAD § (Nota 1)

Excnengs of omals fom 1he document 311,500,000 623,000 Schedulm 1.2 . AppamX B
anllliad"l-'oibﬂupmEFCpaymanls- : S R S
vrgenl.pdt’ . - : : : L ‘ ‘ . e
Exéhenge of emalls fom dosument entitled 45,967,318 93.935 Scheduie 1.4 Apprarix D
"Diseuasion with Cao-shor translate pdf
Totsi 358,467,310 716,935

Nofe:
1. Converted by FAMG at the Decémber 31, 2012 clasing exchange rate. The Decombor 31, 2012 closing exchange
rale was: SO0 CFA Franc - 1 CAD § {sowrew: Sank of Canada).

Report of Patricia Odierna describing audit standards ose and edures

142) [ read the same report dated June 30", 2014, written by Patricla Odierna, as
mentioned in paragraph 141 and | learned that:

(a) An audltor must follow the “Canadlan Auditing Standards” (CAS) gensral
guldelines to meet hisfher professional responsibilities concerning the audit of
financlal statements. An auditor may tum to other authorltative sources,
although CAS are the authoritative auditing pronouncement; s&;
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(b} The auditor's responsibliity Is not to prepara the financfal statements, but it

conslste of expressing an opinion on the financial statements, o provide
assurance that the financial statements are presented fairly;

{c) The audifor will not obtain audit svidence for every amount and disclosura, “A

sample Is selected by the audffor based on ifs assessment of risk and its
defermination of maferiality”. The auditor usually makes a judgment about the
slze of misstatemnents that will be considered materality. If the auditor
23803808 a low lavel for the materlality, it means that the auditor will accept
fewar misstaternents. A full scope audit or lower materiality usually entails a
larger sample selection for the verifications done by the auditors.

[l read the 2012 audit results report for Eucalyptus Flbre Congo made by
EY and it mentloned that the auditors completed a full scope audit.]

{d) The auditor keaps an audit flle for sach audit and relevant audlt evidence

obtained must be documented. The documentation should Inciude the
followlng:

() “The engagement loiter;

(%} Planning of the audit;

(M) Assessment of independence and general qualifications,
{iv}Assessment of the risks of material misstatements;

" (v} Assessment of Internal confrof In order to deslgn appropriafe audit
procedures;

(Vi) Audit procedures and evidence oblained;
(vilSubsequent events or ofher special considerations;

(villA Managemeant representation leftar”:

{8} A management represantatfon letter is usually obtained by the auditer af the

and of the audit. “The letter Is prepared by management and includes writtan
representations that it has fulfiled its responsibiiiies for the preparation of the
financial stafements and for the completeness of the information provided fo
the auditor”.

() "When auditing consolidated financlal stataments, the audltor may decide o

perform or request the audltor of the subsitdiaries fo perform, an audit of
specific account balances or fransactions that are identiffed as risky. Forms
of Invelvement In the work of the subsidiarfes auditor vary and may Inciude,
among others, meetings with the subsidiarlas’ management or their audlfors
fo obtain an understanding of the company and ffs environment, perform rsk
assessment procedures to determine the risks of malertal missiatement at the
subsfdiary lavel, dasign and perform further audit procedures, review overall
audit strafegy, review relevant audif documentation, parlicipate in key
meelings, efc”,

[i belleve that EY pariiclpated In key meetings with regard to the
paymants without supporting documents as mentioned In this ITO
under the heading "Conference Call -~ Review Of The Audit Findings".]

{g) At the end of the audit, the auditor must report its findings to the peopie in

charge of govemnance in the company, like the Board of Directors. “Usually,
~ the Board of Directors will elect a subgroup, the audit committes, to be

Page | 51




responsible” for the oversight of reviewing the flnancial stafements and
“recornmending theilr approval fo the Board of Direclors’, as well as
“rocommending the election of the independent auditors, discussing the
progress and findings of the audit” and reviewing internal controls. The
auditor will usually prepare a document for the audit committee that
summarizes Its audit findings and present It during a meeting in which
members of the audit committes can ask questions,

Madgindustrles and Michael Gunns® [nvolvement

143) The following paragraphs describe some of Michael Gunng' actions as
Magindustries’ governance specialist. Although they could not be diractly
assoclated with either the payment to f the ROC or
the “black money” payments made by Eucalyptus Fibra Congd, they are relavant
to this investigation to demonstrate that during this specific time in 2013,
Magindustries faced conduct issues regarding corrupt payments made by its
employess. The information below shows that Gunns placed a lot of importance
on the topic of corruption and as described in this ITO, he recaived a notice of
termination of his contract in September 2013.

Michae! Gunns sends the proposed amendment of the Corruption of Forsign
Officlals Act

144) | read an e-mail and attachment sent on February 19", 2013, from Michael

mrrng e

Gunns to Wil Burton to inform him of the proposed amendment to the Corruption
of Forsign Officlals Act. Gunns referred to a key saction, called "facliitation
payments are prohiblled” and wrote that it dld not mean that the amendment
would pass,

[l believe that the Corruption of Forelgn Officials Act is the same as the

" CFPOA.]
Risk and compilance materlals — Michael Gunns

145) | read an e-mall dated July 5", 2013, from Michael Gunns with attached

documents to Geoff Waoo, CFO of Magindustries Ih Toronto suggesting he study
them In a particular order before their meating and start planning their approach.
The attachments consisted of the following:

(&) A 2012 report from the US State Depariment regarding the climate in the
ROC. Michae) Gunns thought of it as part of the briefing material for the
Board in August and wrote that Rich confirmed that the report Is cradible and
ussful;

(b) A presentation by McCarthy’'s, a Canadian Law Firm, pertaining to the
proposad amendments to Canada's Corruplion of Publlc Officlals Act.
Michasl Gunns drew aftention to the compliance programs and the
responsibility for the acts of agents and business partners.

(c) An article from Canadian Business dated February 14™, 2013, In relation to
two recent highly-publicized Canadlan cases involving the RGMP; «XS\‘ -
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({d)A link to the Transparency intarnational site, which Indicated that the
assessment ranked the ROG 144 out of 176;

[On Septembar 11th, 2014, | accessad the Transparency International
Slte at www.transparency.org/ and | learned that the assessment ranked
the ROC 154 out of 177.]

(e} A copy of the reports including the risk survey and the risk approach which
Michasl Gunns provided to the Board at their mesting in Toronto in June
2012; ‘

{f) A copy of the PowerPoint presentation made to the Board In June 2012;

{g) The materials given at the Goodman'’s sesslon which they attended on Juns
27",

{f belleve that Geoff Woo and Michael Gunns attended the Goodman's
session on June 27", 2013, as Rich Morrow authorized them to attend.)]

[f further balieve that Michael Gunns was caoncerned about carruptlon
since he emphasized the suhject of bribery and provided all this
documantation in preparation for their next meeting to start preparing
thelr approach,]

Michasl Gunns seeks permisslion to attend an anti-corruption presentation in
Toronto

146) | read two e-malls dated June 13", 2013, betwesn Michaol Gunns and Rich
Morrow, Diractor of investor Relations and Corporate Davelopment, regarding an
upcoming anti-corruption presentation by Goodmans LLP in Toronto. Michael
Gunns mantioned that the presentation was well-timed, He stated that sending
too many people may not look “too cool'. Michasel Gunns thought that Lucy,
Geoff and he should go and he could brief them on what fo say If they were
asked why they were aftending. Michael Gunns would register those who ate
golng to the presentation. Rich Morrow agreed and wrote to Michael Gunns fo
go ahead and reglster. ’

[i belisva that on the date this email was sent, Michael Gunns and Rich
Morrow did not know about the payment made on May 2"%, 2013, to the
EEEEEEERE. Therofore, | beligve that Michael Gunns wished to
attend this conference and mentloned that it was well-timed because at the
time the e-mall was sent, Magindustries had been dealing with the black
money paymants made by Eucalyptus Flbhre Congo.]

Antl-bribery leglslation PowerPolnt from Michael Gunns

147) | read an e-mall dated July 26%, 2013, from Michael Gunns, Consultant for
Magindustries, to Rich Morrow, Director of Investor Relatlons and Corporate
Dovelopment. ! loamed that Michae! Gunns included a covering note, a
PowerPoint presentation, and the 2012 report prepared by the U.S. Siale
Dapariment regarding the Investment Climate In the ROC that he wished fo later
send o the Board. The covering note stated that a presentation would be

attached and the primary topic would be the Antl-Bribery Leglslation and;t;)
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Impact. Michael Gunns stated It was “a very important and complex one, with
considerable implications®.

148) 1 read an e-mall and attachments sent on July 26", 2013, from Michael Gunns to
Geoff Woo, CFO of Maglndustries in Toronto. The e-mail included the proposed
covering note and the attachments previously sent to Rich Momow. Ons of the
attachmants was the Anti-Bribery Leglslation PowerPolnt presentation containing
24 slides titled “MAG - Risk — Aug 2013 Audit & Board.pdf” prepared for the
Audlt Committee and Board meeting In August 2013 by Michaal Gunns. One
slide mentioned that an Updats of Control Environment of MagMinerals Potasses
Congo SA, Eucalyptus Fibre Congo, Toronto, stc. would be presented separately
by Geoff Woo. The presentation dealt with tha topics of the updated CFPOA, the
corruption risk of the ROC and facilitation payments. it also analyzed Canadlan
CFPOA court cases Nlko Resources, 2011 and Griffiths, 2013. It pointed out the
difference belween the fine and restriction put on the company based on how ths
company reacted to the lllegal payment and thelr degree of cooperation. It noted
that all law anforcement agencles take the view that the appropriate level of
tolerance towards bribery Is zero.

[t helleva that Geoff Woo may also hava presented to the Board of Directors
In August 2013, along with Michasl Gunna. Michasl Gunns suggested to
Geoff Woo to not include certain slides In his pressntation In order to not
lose the focus on the bribery topic.]

Govearnance issues — October 2013

149} | read an e-mail and three attachments, sent on October 2, 2013, from Michasl
Gunns to Rich Morrow, Director of Invesior Relations and Corporate
Deavelopment. | leamed that Michael Gunns put mportance on one of the
attachments titled *“MAG Prlorities Oct 2013.pdf”. The document described the
summary of the most outstanding governance matters for Magindustries as of
October 2™, 2013. The ltems were wiitten In order of Importance and items one
to three required an immediate attention, One of the most urgent matlers listed
under the risk managerment was the Anti-Bribery. The report stated that the CEQ
instructed at the Board maeling in August 2013 that transactions and activities
that would violate the CFPOA must not occur. Also, following the Beard meeting,
simiar instructions were given by the CEO to his senior management team
immediately. It also stated “In the event of scrufiny, the company wilf be judged
on vigoraus and robust implementation and monitoring — rather than simply
establishing policy”,

[As explainad In part 1 of this ITO, Michael Gunns recelvad a notlce of
tarmination of his contract on September 3", 2013, The terminatlon would
be effactive thirty days from Saptember 3", 2013.)

Conclusion

Part 1: MagMinarals Potasses Congo SA

180) In 2013, Magindustries was facing dlfﬂcu!tlas with Its expropriallon projacts In the
ROC. Management decided fo Invite theERaseuins e to Pointe Nolre
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161)

152)

153)

154)

158)

166)

for a visit. Thres days prior to his visit, Jun Tian advised that tho (RS
requested 5,000,000 CFA [$10,040 CAD] to coordinate all aspscts of the
connection from the Premier and the Mayor of Pointe Nolre and Koullou as well
as 1,000,000 CFA {$2,008 CAD] for per diem payments {o his delegation during
his visit. EEEEENEEN was also Invited to visit China but Longbo Chen declded fo
ot use a Maglndustries letterhead for the invitation.

On May 2™, 2013, a mecting was held in Polnts Nolre to offlcially faunch the
expropriation commlsslon for the Mengo Project.

On May 2", 2013, IEESEEEEEER rofused to sign a payment totaling 6,000,000
CFA [$12,048 CAD] to Government Officlals. As a result o
refusal, Shoubing Li and Fullang Wang authorized the payment that was made in
cash.

in July 2013, [ sent an anonymous e-mall to inform Maglndustries that on
May 2™, 2013, a payment of 5,000,000 CFA [$10,040 CAD} was made fo a
Government Officlal. He was later met by Michael Gunns In the ROC to
investigate the anonymous complaint. |JEEEERE reported to Gunns that he
refused to authorize the payment.

| believe that Magindustries' head office In Toronto was Informed of the bribe.
Eirst, the anonymous e-mall sent on July 30", 2013 alerted the company. Then,
Geoff Woo, CFO of Maglndustries in Toronto and Gunns, a Consultant for
Maglindustries in Toronfo, traveled to the ROC and both met with IR
Gunns discussad with [HRER the ilegal payment, | believe that Gunns
reported the payment to the Board of Directors and Woo was also In attendance,

| belteve that the payment made to [INEIEEEEER wes made fo gain a business
advantage for the expropriation work conducted by Maglndusitles.

! have reaschable grounds fo belleve that a search warrant for the documents
andfor data ("Things to search for'} and the documents and/or data to be
produced would further the investigation and these things would afford evidence
of the offences under investigation.

Part 2: Eucalyptus Fibre Congo

167)

158)

Based on the information set out In this ITO, | beliave that during thelr 2012 Audit
of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo, EY discovered the existenca of a number of
unsupported payments, After EY briefed Maglndustries’ audit committee and
informed them that the term "black money” was going to be used in the
rapresentation istter, Magindustries' management at their Toronto office sought
clarification about the nature of these payments.

Maglindustries was Issued fines from previous years relating to the Congo tax
regulations which they settled by making “black money” payments and “whit

=)
money” payments. \\J ‘
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159)

160}

161)

162)

| bellevs that the "black money” payments were bribes made to government
employses and the "whife money” payments ware legitimate payments made to
the government. '

| belleve that Geoff Woo, CFO of Magindustries In Toronto, was aware of the
"black money” payments as well as the spreadsheat that described ways to wash
“black money” (APPENDIX E), as it was discussed In e-mails.

t helieve that a total of flve "black money” payments were made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo for a tofal of approximately $102,000 CAD. The “black money”
payments, combined with “white money" payments totaled $147,000 CAD. |
believe Magindustries benefitted from these paymenis by saving approximately
$716,935 CAD owad in taxes. 1 further hellove that the fotal of amounts that
should have been paid for the Congo tax regulations was approximately
843,834.64 CAD.

| have reasonable grounds {o belleve that a search warrant for the documents
andfor data (“Things to search for") and the document andfor data to be
produced will further the Investigation and these things will afford evidence of the
offences under invastigation.

SEARCH WARRANT

SEARCH WARRANT AT MAGINDUSTRIES LOCATED AT 33 YONGE STREET,
SUITE 820, TORONTO, ONTARIO

This search warrant is being sought in relation to the following offences:

163)

| have reasonable grounds to believe thal offences contrary fo an Act of
Parllament have been committed:

(a) Batween January 4%, 2013 and December 31%, 2013, by Longbo Chen, Jin
Zhongping, Jun Tlan and Fuliang Wang, to wit:

i) Bribing a Forelgn Public Official contrary to section 3(1) of the Corruption
of Forelgn Public Officials Act,

1} Fraud on Magindustries' Investors contrary to section 380 of the Criminal
Cods;

iy Conspiracy to commit an indictable offence contrary to sectlon 465 of the
Crimninal Code.

(b) Between January 1%, 2012 and December 31%, 2013, unknown employees of
Eucalyptus Fibre Congo andfor Maglindustrias, to wit:

i) PBribing a Forelgn Public Official contrary to saction 3{1} of the Corruption
of Foreign Public Officials Act; \E
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li) Fraud on MaglIndustries’ investors contrary to saction 380 of the Criminal
Cods;

164) 1 also have reasonable grounds to belleve that offences pursuant to section 22.2
of the Criminal Code havs been committed bstween January 1%, 2012 and
December 31*, 2013, by Magindustries:

{c) Bribing & Forelgn Public Officlal contrary to section 3{1) of the Corruption of
Foreign Public Officials Acf;

{d) Fraud on Magindustries' investors contrary to section 380 of the Criminal
Code,

The “Things to search for”

165) Should this search warrant be granted, ! propose that peace officars be
authorized to enter the premises at 33 Yonge Street, Suile 820, Toronte, Ontario,
to search for and {o seize the following documents andfor data {“Things to
search for”):

{2} Documents Include all paper formats, electronic data that can ba confained
within devicas {such as but not limlted to moblle devices, external storage
devices, computers and hard drives) and include agreements, financlal
slatements, notes, lotters, spreadshests, flow charts, correspondonce, o-
malls and faxes;

I} Any documaents related to tha fitie or Job funclion of Maglndustries’, and/or
its subsidlaries’, employees for the years 2008 up to and ingluding 2014;

i) Any documents for tha years 2012 up to and Including 2014 related o
Maglndustries’ expropHatlon projects In the Republic of Congo;

i) Any documents for the years 2042 up to and including 2014 related to the

iv} Any documents for the years 2013 up fo and including 2014 related to the
planning ad!or any subsequant visit to China organized by Magindusiries by
|

v) Any documents related to the payment andfor agreement to pay
B o R onMay2 2013;

vi) Any documents related to | EEIRRENEN . ox Magindusties' employes;

vil) Any documents for the year 2013 relaled to Magindustries’ internal control
palicy, reports, guidslines and/or procedures;

viil}Any documents related to a 30,000,000 CFA payment made by
Eucalyptus Fibre Congo on November aoh, 2012, regarding a tax inspection:

Ix} Any documents related to a 7,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on July 18", 2012, regarding a tax inspaction;

X) Any documents related to a 5,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalypius
Fibra Congo on December 26", 2012, regarding social secure inspection;
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xi) Any documents related to a 3,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on July 24", 2012, regarding a commerce administration
inspaction; )

Xii} Any documents related to a 6,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibra Congo in 2013 regarding taxable staff benefits.

The documents and/or data exist and are at 33 Yonge Street, Suite 820, Toronto,
Ontario

168) | beliove the above noled things in sub-paragraph (i) to {xi) are each assoclated

167)

o Magindustries and the offences under investigation. | belteve that the events
described in the grounds to believe led to documents being created by
Maglndustriles employses fo allow them to continue the development of thelr
potash mine and the wood chip business in the Republlc of Congo. | believe that
the head office of a publicly traded Canadian company keeps documents
detalling the title and the job function of its employees. | also belleve that it Is
reasonable to search documenis up to December 31%, 2014, since the
axpropriation project is ongolng. | belleve that the communication between the
Government Public Offlcials and Maglndustries Is ongoing, It is reasonsble fo
helisve that these documents which are collected In paper and electronic format
are at the head office and place of business of Magindustries located at 33
Yonge Streset, Suite 820, in Toronto, Ontario.

i read a report propared by Constable Danlet Cheng {Cst. Cheng), a peace
officer and member of the RCMP In Toronto. | learned that on October 6",
2014, Cst. Chang attended 33 Yonge Streef, Sulte 820, Toronto, Ontarlo and
saw a sign Indicating “Magindustries Corp® upon exiting the elevator on 'the 8"
fioor. He aiso located sulfle 820 on the frosted glass door indlcating
“Maglndustries” and the door was locked.

The documants andfor data at 33 Yonge Street, Suite 820, Toronto, Ontario will
afford evidence

168}

169)

170)

Any documents related to the fitle or job function of Magindustrles, andfor its
suhsidiaries’, employees for the years 2008 to 2014 wili afford evidence with
respect to the commission of the offence by understanding the structure of the
company and the role of certain individuals,

Any documents for the years 2012 fo 2014 reléted to Magindustries’
expropriation projects in the Republic of Congo will afford evidence with respact
to the commission of the offence in relation to the expropriation project.

Any documents for the years 201 210 2014 related to the (REEEEE
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171)

172)

173)

174)

176)

178)

177)

178)

179)

Any documents in relation to [ REEEEEERER. ox Magindustries’ employee will
afford evidence with respact o the commission of the offence as to how
Maglndustries deait with him and the reasons behind his training In Toronto and
the abolition of his position.

Any documents for the year 2013 related {o Magindustries’ internal control policy,
reports, guldelines andfor procedures will afford evidence with raspect to the
commission of the offence in understanding the practices at Magindustries and
obtaining any reports made regarding the payments under investigation,

Any documsnis In relation to a 30,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on November 30", 2012, regarding a tax Inspaction wiit afford
evidence with respect to the commission of the offence and will provide a full
plclure regarding the payment, how Magindustries dealt with I, confirm which
individuals authorized the payments and who was paid.

Any documants In relation to a 7,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyplus
Flbre Congo on July 18%, 2012, regarding a tax Inspection will afford evidence
with respect {o the commission of the offence and will provide a full plclure
regarding the payments, how Magindusiries dealt with' if, conflrm which
Individuals g&uthorized the paymants and who was paid.

Any documents in relation to a 5,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on December 28", 2012, regarding soclal securs Inspection will
afford evidence wilh respect to the commission of the offénce and wilf provide a
full picture regarding the payments, how Magindustries dealt with it, confirm
which individuals authorizad the paymants and who was pald.

Any documents related to a 3,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus Flbre
Congo on July 24™, 2012, regarding a commerce administration inspaction will
provide a full picture reganding the payments, how Magindustries deail with it,
confirm which individuals authorized tha paymaents and who was paid,

Any documents in relation to a 6,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo In 2013 regarding a taxable staff benefit will afford evidence with
respact to the commission of the offence and wili provide a full plolure regarding
the payments, how Magindusiries dealt with it, confirn which individuals
authorized the payments and who was pald, ;\LQ
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180)

181}

182)

183)

184)

r Searches

Furthermore, | belleve that some of the documents and/or data (“Things to
search for"} will be conialned in computers, electronic devices as well as
electronic messages. It is reasonable to helievs that some documents have bean
created or kept on a computer, The maljority of lndividuals working In a business
environment use computers at work, )t Is also reasonable to belleve that
documents could have bssn created and exchanged via e-mall. For these
reasons, | am requesting that the search of computer(s) be granted for the
“Things to search for”,

i beileve that analyzing ali the data of a company on site could take an extended
amount of time. In order to reduce the impact on the regular business of
Maglindustries and to avold an over selzure, Invastigators will, if feastble, conduct
& search of the computer(s), servet(s), electronic devica(s) or axternal storage
device(s) on site and only the slactronic data believed on reasonable grounds to
be included in the "Things to search for" will be copied andfor forensically
imaged,

if the on-slte search is not possible, all of the elactronic data contained within the
computer(s), sarvar(s}, electronlc device(s) or external storage device(s) will be
copled and/or forensically imaged,

As a result, | propose that the elecironic data copied from the computer(s),
server(s), elactronic device(s) or external storage device(s) be acquired on site
and reviewed an analyzed at a RCMP facility,

| spoke to Cst. Etlenne Dussault, Computer Forensic' Investigator of the
Integrated Technological Crime Unit of the RCMP, National Division, In Ottawa,
Ontario and he told me the following:

{a) iImaging involves making a copy of the data that would be oh a computer
andfor device. Furthermore, he told me that it s difflcult io say how long it
would take to image a computer or device untll it is examined, but depending
on the clrcumstances, a& computer may take two to four business days.
However, the quaniity of devices and medla, size or capacily, the complexity
and the physical condition are factors that will affect the amount of time taken
to process and forensically image the electronic media or devices;

(b) At the scene of a search, he can do a cursory search to determine who the
user{s) of the computer is {are}. f there are reasonable grounds to helleve
that information regarding the documents and/or data {“Things to search for")
would be found, the device andfor a forensic Image of the device will be
selzed and/or mads;

{c) Once imaged, he can fiiter files based on the format such as, but not limitad
to audio, video, graphics, word processing, stc.;

{d) He can fitter filos based on dates of the documents. Howsver, when he
relrleves documents that have been deleted, there may not be a date
assoclated to the file and the only way to ses the date of the document Is to

open it. A/Q
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS

186) | propose the following terms and condilions in relation with the computer(s),
server(s), elecfronic device(s} or extomal storage device(s):

{a) When reasonable grounds to belleve that the things to search for are
contained in electronlc data within a computer, a server, an elacironic device
or an external storage device, a copy and/for a forensic image of the elecironic
data will be made and If not feasible, a copy andfor a forensic Image of the
device wiil be made;

{b}) in the event that It is not pracficable to image the elsctronic data or device on
site dus fo circurnstances out of the control of the RCMP, the slectronle data
of tha computer(s), server(s), elsctronic device(s) or extemal storags
device(s) selzed will e forensically imaged on site {mirror Image);

{c} In the event that it is not practicable o forensically Image on site, the item
may be removed from the search location and the imaging process may take
place in an RCMP facility;

(d) The search of the electronic data, computer(s), server(s), slactronic device(s)
or external storage device(s) will be based on the offences set out In this-
warrant to identify any of the documents andfor data (“Things to search for");

{e) Tha computer(s), server(s), electronic device(s) or external storage device(s)
will be returned as soon as practicable.

188) | also propose that the documents and/or data to be selzed wiil be examined and
analyzed subject to and in accordance with the following terms and conditions:

(a) The examination and analysis to search for the evidence describad in paragraph
165(a)l} to xii} will be conducted on all the documents and/or data, EXCLUDING
documents and/or data identlfled as potentlally privileged.

{b) In order to Identify the relevant documents and/for data, all the documants andfor
data (EXCLUDING documants andfor data identified as potentially privileged)
may be examined and searched regardless of the form In which the documents
andfor data is stored,

{c) When Investigators regsonably believe that a document and/for data was elther
racelved or sent by a solicitor, or Investigators reasonably believe a document
andfor data Is sublect to the sollcitor clisnt privilegs, the Investigator will coass
raviewing the document and/or data and will limit lts access after which time no
person shall access these documsnts except as authorized by court order.

ASSISTANCE ORDER

187} | belleve that the assistance of the Forensic Accountant Management Group from
Public Works and Governmeant Services Canada may be required to asslst the
peace offlcers with the search as financlal Information Is sought and they will
provide assistance with thelr experience. | therefore propose that pursuant fo

section 487.02 of the Criminal Code, an assistance order be issuad ordering the Jﬁ) .
t:
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188)

189)

Forenslc Accountant Management Group and any other person o provide such
asslstance as it Is necessary to give effect to the search warrant.

| bellave that the assistance of a cerlified RCMP transiator may be reguired to
asslst peace offlcers with the search as some documents andfor data may be
wiiiten In Chinese. The iranslator would provide assistance to determine the
content of the document andfor data If wiitten in Chinese. 1 therefore propose
that pursuant to section 487.02 of the Criminal Code, an assistance order be
issued ordering the certified RCMP translator to provide such assistance as it s
necessary to give affect to the search warrant.

I belleve that the assistance of any person employed by or contracted by
Maglndustries may be needed to assist the peace officers with the search. Paper
format documents can be filed in a complex manner In a busihess, Thsir
assistance may be necessary to help Investigators and to show them where their
documents are kept. Also, computer networks and related systems can be very
complicated and thalr structures vary from one environment to another. Thelr
agsistance may be necassary to provide information about the systems, locatlon
of data related to this authorization, how to access the systems or {o provide user
or adminlstrative credentials to access computer systems cor network, 1 belleve
that Magindustries employees’ assistance will be required to give effect to this
authortzation, | theraefore propose that pursuant {o section 487.02 of the Criminal
Code, an assistange order be issued ordering the Magindustries’ employees and
any cother person to provide such assistance as it is necessary to give effect to
{he search warrant, '

PRODUCTION ORDER

PRODUCTION ORDER FOR TRENT HENRY, CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER OF ERNST & YOUNG

This production order is being sought in refation to the following offences:

190)

191)

] also have reasonable grounds to believe that between January 1%, 2012 and
December 31%, 2013, unknown employees of Eucalyptus Fibre Congo andfor
Maglndustries have committed the following offences:

(a) Bribing a Forelgh Publfic Official contrary to sactlon 3(1) of the Corrupfion of
Forelgn Fublic Offfclals Act;

(b) Fraud on Magindustries’ investors contrary to section 380 of the Criminal
Coda;

Pursuant to section 22.2 of the Criminal Code, | also have reasonable grounds to
belleve that betwaen January 1%, 2012, and December 31, 2013, Magindustries
have committed the following offences:

{a) Bribing a Foreign Public officlal contrary to section 3(1) of the Corruptfon of
Forelgn Public Officials act;

(b) Fraud on Magindustries' investors contrary to section 380 of the Criminal

Cods.
AY
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The documents andfor the data to he produced

192)

193)

| propose that Trent Henry, Chalrman and Chlef Executive Officer of Ernst &
Young Canada, or his designate, shall produce documents and/or data, or coplas
of them cerfified by affidavit to be true coples, located at 222 Bay Strest, P.O.
Box 251, Toronto, Cntaro or any other location, off site faciiity, receptacle or
place where Ernst & Young maintains and storss the things referred to as
documents andfor data fo ba produced to Constable Anick Marla Mazerolls, or
her designate, a peace officer of the RCMP, Sensifive and Intemational
Investigations Sectlon at 165 MoArthur Avanue, Room 523, Ottawa, Ontario as
soon as reasonably possible but In any event no later than 30 days from the date
this order is served. Should this production order be granted, there are
raasonable grounds to belleve that the followlng documents andfor data will
afford evidence respecting the commission of the namad offences.

Documents includs all paper formats, electronic data that can be contained within
devices (such as but not limited to mobile devices, external storage devices,
computars and hard drivas) and Include agresmsnts, financial statements, hotes,
lattars, spreadshests, flow charts, correspondence, e-malls and faxes;

{a) The documents and/or data, or coples of them certifiad by affidavit to be true
coples to be produced are:

i) The 2012 Magindustries audlt flls, including the paper and electronic fils,
audttor's notes and e-malls;

i) Any documents related to a 30,000,000 CFA payment made by
Eucalyptus Fibre Congo on November 30", 2012, regarding a tax Inspection;

iii) Any documents related to a 7,000,000 CFA paymant made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on July 18", 2012, regarding a tax inspection;

iv) Any documants refated to a 5,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on December 26%, 2012, regarding soclai sacure inspection;

v} Any documents related to a 3,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyptus
Fibre Congo on July 24™ 2012, regarding a commerce administration
inspection;

vi) Any documents related to a 6,000,000 CFA payment made by Eucalyplus
Fibre Congo In 2013 regarding taxable staff banafl,

The documenis and/or the data are in the possession of Ernst & Young and their
CEO Trent Henry

194)

I belleve that documents andfor data in relation to Magindusties are In
possesslon of Ernst & Young. As explained in this ITO, EY is the auditing firm
for Magindustries and Ashraf Zinaldin is the person rasponsible for the audit for
EY. As statad sariler In this iITQ, Ashraf Zineldin provided his work address in an
emall as EY Tower, 222 Bay Street, P.O, Box 251, Toronto, Ontario.\)p _
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165) 1 belleve that throughout thalr audit, EY employees hava collected and produced
documents which are coliected In paper and electronic format. 1t is reasonable fo
beliave that these documents and/or data are in possession of Ernst & Young.

196) | spoks to Patricla Odlerna and 1 learned that the audlt procedures and tha
avidence obtained must be documented as per the Canadian Audliting
Standards. | belleve that these documents and/or data are Ih possesslon of Ernst
& Young.

187) [ accesead the EY website at www.ey.com and | leamed that Trent Henry is the
Chairman and CEO of the company EY in Canada, As the CEO of the company,
| believe that Trent Henry has the possession or the control of the documents
and/or data,

The documants and/or the data to be produced will afford evidence

188) The 2012 Magindustries audit file, Including the paper and slectronic file,
auditor's notes and e<malls will afford evidence with respect to the commisston of
the offence and will provide a full plcture concerning thelr audit procedures, the
information obtained while they conducted the audit, thelr assessment of the
risks of materlal misstatements and their representation letter. Furtharmore, any
documents in relatlon to the payments listed in paragraph 193 will afford
evidence with respsct to the commission of the offence and will provide a full
plcture regarding the payments, how Magindusiries dealt with it, conflrm which
Individuals authorized the payments and who was pald.

IERMS AND CONDITIONS

198) | propose the following terms and conditions In relation with the documents
andlor data to be produced:

{a) Trent Henry, or his designate, shall not destroy or alter any original
documents andfor data copled or duplicated and produced uniess permitted
by order of a Court of competent jurisdiction or until advised by Constable
Anick Marie Mazerolls or a2 peace officer aciing under the authority or
direction of that peace officer, that the Investigation of the offences Is
concluded and that any charges resuliing have baen disposed of Including all

appeals;

(b) Trent Henry, or his designate, may produce any documents andfor data by
alectronic  transmission to the electronlc e-mall  address at
B or con confact Constable Anick Marle
Mazerolle at [EEEREEENSENE to make arangements for the delivery of
documents and/or data;

() Trent Hanry, or his deslgnate, and any employee shall not directly or Indiractly
disclose or permit disclosure of the content and existence of this order, in any
manner, or t¢ any pserson axcept as may be necessary for the purposes of
compliance with Its terms or obtaining the advice or assistance of legal
counsel unless otherwise ordered by a Court of compstent jurisdiction;

(d} Nothing In this order shall require the production of any decuments andfor
data which Is subject to sollcitor clisnt privilege;qlg
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200)

SE

201}

202)

203)

204)

(8) Copies of any documents and/or data produced pursuant to this order need
not to be returnad to Ernst & Young.

Trent Henry and/or Emst & Young are not under investigation for the offences
mentioned in paragraphs 190 and 181,

G ORDER

| am also seeking that all documsnts relating to this applicatlon, any resulting
search warrant and production order and any report to a Justice In respect of the
things saized be placed In a packet and sealed immediately on determination of
this application, and that packet shall bs kept in the custody of the court In a
place to which the public has no access and shall not be dealt with excaept in
accordance with section 487.3 (4) of the Criminal Code.

If the content of this application was made public before Its execution and
Maglindustries was made aware, It would compromise the extent of this ongoing
Investigation as evidence could be destroyad at the offlce of Magindustries.

At this polnt, It is unknown how Maglindustries’ employees will react and If some
of them will agree to provide a statement. Should this applicatlon be madse
avallable to the public before any interviews, it would greatly affect the evidence
to be obtained during those Interviews as the interviewee could be aware of the
informatlon gathered thus far.

I belleve that if the content of this application was fo become public,
Magindustries share price could be negatively affectad which would prejudice the
interests of innocent parsons owning this stock.

SWORN BEFORE ME AT the clty of

Ottawa In the Province of Ontarlo,
This /& ™ day of January, 2015

Commissioner of Oaths, etc. Cst, Anlck Mazerolle (afflant)
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CANADA } In the matter of an Application for a Search
} Warrani, puisuant to section 487, an Assistance

PROVINCE OF ONTARIO } Order, purstiant to Section 487.02, and a Sealing
) Order pursuant to section 487.3 of the Criminal
EAST REGION } Code.
)

SEARCH WARRANT AND RELATED ORDERS

TO: PEACE OFFICERS:

UPON BEING SATISFIED, based on the information on oath i writing, dated July _&3
2014, of Constable Anick Marie Mazerolle, a peace officer and member of the Royal
Canadian Mounted Police of the Gity of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, that there
are reasonable grounds to believe that one or more offences cantrary to an Act of
Parliament have been committed, to wit: '

(a) Bribing a foreign public official, contrary lo section 3 (1) of the Corruptfon of
Foreign Public Official Act; ‘

(b) Conspiracy fo commit an indictable offence, contrary to section 465 of the
Criminai Coda,

AND UPON BEING SATISFIED THAT there are reasonable grounds to believe that the
following things will afford evidence with respect to the commission of the said offences:

(c) The hard drive containing data that was seized at Radiant Communications on
March 19", 2014.

AND UPON BEING SATISFIED THAT thete are reasonable grounds to believe that the

- said computer hard drive described above is af the followling place:

(d) 155 McArthur Avenue, Oftawa, Ontarlo, K1A OR4.
AND UPON BEING SATISFIED THAT the provisions of seclions 487, 487.02, and
487 .3 of the Craminal Code have been met;
IT IS ORDERED THAT:

OFFENCES

1. The offences for which there are reasonable grounds lo believe has been committed
are: .

{a) Bribing a foreign public official, contrary to section 3 (1) of the Corruption of
Foreign Public Cfficial Act, and

{b) Conspiracy to commit an indictable offence, contrary to saction 465 of the
‘Criminal Cods, 39
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' SEARCH WARRANT

2. Peace officers are hereby authorized, between the hours of 6:00 AM and 6:00 PM
on the 24" day of July, 2014, to enter the premises at 155 McArthur Avenue,
Ottawa, Ontario, K1A OR4 (the “premises™), to search for and to seize the hard drive
contgining data seized at Radiant Communications on March 1g% 2014 (the *hard
drive"), for which there are reasonable grounds to believe the following evidence
relating to the offences in paragraph 1 will be obtained:

{a) Any e-mails or electronic communications, including sent, unsent and deleted
communications and their associated atfachments belonging fo Maglindustries,
related to black money payments made by Eucalyptus Fibre Congo.

{b) Any e-mails or electronic communications, including senf, unsent and deleted
communications and their associated attachments belonging to Magindustries,
related to Ernst & Young.

{(¢) BUT NOT INCLUDING any e-malls or electronic communications, including
sent, unsent and deleted communications and their associated attachments
belonging to Maglndustries, that has been previously or will be identified as
potentially privileged.

OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS

3. The hard drive to be seized will be examined and analyzed subject to and in
accordance with the foliowing terms and conditions:

{a) The examination and analysis to search for the evidence described in
paragraphs 2(a) and 2{b) will be conducted on all the data contalned on the hard
drive, EXCLUDING the data identified as potentially privileged.

(b) In order to identify the relevant data, all the dala (EXCLUDING the dala
identified as potentially privileged} may be examinad and searched regardless of
the form in which the data is stored.

{c) When investigators reasonably believe that a document was either received or
sent by a solicilor, or investigators reascnably belleve a document Is subject to
the solicitor client privilege, the investigator wili cease reviewing the document
and will limlit ifs access after which time no person shall access these
documents except as authorized by court order.

ASSISTANCE ORDER

4, IT1S FURTHER ORDERED THAT, pursuant to section 487.02 of the Griminal Code,
any person, including Stephahie Kenny, shall provide such assistance as is
necessary to give effect to this search warrant. Furthermore, any persons, including
Radiant Communications and its employees shall not directly or indirectly disclose or
permit disclosure of the content, existence or operation of this search warrant in any
manner, of to any person, except as may be necessary for the purposes of
compliance with the terms of this search warrant or to obtain legal advice. Jz@
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SEALING ORDER

5. 1T 18 FURTHER ORDERED THAT, pursuant to section 487.3 of the Criminal Code,
alt documents relating to this application and any resulting search warrant and any
report to a justice in respect of the things seized, shali be placed in a packet and
sealed immediately on determaination of this application, and thai packet shail be
kept In the custody of the court in a place to which the public has no access and

shall not be dealt with except in accordance with section 487.3 (4) of the Criminal
Code.

DATED at the Clty of Oftawa, in the Province of Ontario, on July A% 2014,

ol
@)

A Justice of the Peace
in and for the Province of Ontario

&
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